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TANGRAM Mysterious in form, mysterious in origin

Just like paper, Tangram is from China, but its exact origins have been lost over time.

As the legend goes, thousands of years ago, in ancient China, a wise man was asked to offer his

king a precious gift: a perfect square of glass. Despite having been kept in good condition during the

long trip to the royal palace, upon arriving, the gift slipped and fell to the floor.

Distraught, the wise man unwrapped the present and found it had broken into seven geometric

shapes: 1 square, 1 parallelogram and 5 triangles.

Trying to reconstruct the original square, he discovered infinite combinations. It was this revelation

that he presented to the king, using the seven parts to describe the journey and illustrate his

adventure.

Known as the seven books of Tan or the 7 slabs of knowledge, the Tangram is not a game.

It is a form of mental discipline, in which you interact with the elements by abstracting the shape,

playing with possibility and producing ever different creations.
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Dear shareholders,

In 1998, I was elected at the Annual General Meeting to run the Company, within a broader mission to

restructure the Portuguese pulp and paper sector and to prepare Portucel for its second phase of privatization.

To attain these objectives, the creation of a world scale producer and the achievement of absolute competitive

advantages became, thus, critical factors. 

At that time, Portucel produced, almost exclusively, market bleached eucalyptus pulp, having also a 50

thousand tonnes business of kraftsack paper. This business was later spinned-off since this was an activity

considered outside the so-called “white sector”.

After identifying the threat coming from the Southern Hemisphere producers, with very competitive cost

structures, I, along with my colleagues at the Board of Directors, immediately established cost cutting, and

productivity and industrial efficiency improvement measures; these required important investments and are

currently completely consolidated. We firmly supported the increase in forest productivity, as a long term

guarantee of sustained wood supply. In such a global industry, with global competition and undifferentiated

products, production cost is, with no doubt, a key factor for the Company‘s growing competitiveness.

Being one of the world’s most fragmented industries, the pulp and paper sector underwent significant

consolidation and internationalization movements, namely mergers and acquisitions. To overcome these

challenges, it was necessary to integrate further along the chain value. We outlined a strategy and assumed

that corporate size and consolidation were to be our drivers for future growth, allowing to diminish our

weaknesses. We acquired and merged with Papéis Inapa, bought Soporcel’s entire share capital and have

currently launched a pre-engineering study for a new paper machine that will grant full integration into

uncoated woodfree paper at our Setúbal mill. This project means further reduction in Company’s exposure to

low cost producers’ competition, who have strongly invested in capacity increases during the last couple of

years.

We persistently pursued this strategy and asserted ourselves as paper producers, because we believed, and

still do believe, that Portugal and Spain, together, have size enough to be an alternative to Nordic producers

in the segment of fine printing and writing eucalyptus based papers.

Jorge Armindo
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As a direct result from this vertical integration strategy,  Portucel Soporcel Group has now a leading position

in the uncoated woodfree paper market, being the fifth European producer, the third in Western Europe and

the first in the offset segment. We consolidated a position that, in the short term, can offer the Company the

leadership in the demanding European segment of the uncoated fine papers market.

Portucel Soporcel Group’s leadership reinforcement in the international pulp and paper sector, as well as the

improvement in efficiency and competitiveness and its financial and economical strengthening, were the

main objectives that anticipated the decision to re-privatize the Company. It is, thus, with great satisfaction

that we close this six year cycle, knowing that all the outlined goals were fully achieved.

I would also like to express my gratitude to all those who worked with me in this challenging and passionate

project.

And, finally, a word of thanks to you, our shareholders, that during these six years always supported us and

without whom it would have been impossible to lead this “ship” to safe port.

Setúbal, 1st March 2004

Jorge Armindo de Carvalho Teixeira



ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL INDICATORS

2003

1,223

943

1,000.6

111.0

-44.3

66.8

211.0

258.7

26%

948.4

118.4

1.03

0.41

0.46

5%

3.7

0.09

0.27

0.34

1.44

2002

1,223

922

1,085.6

191.7

-57.3

89.5

233.7

335.2

31%

1,019.1

67.1

1.02

0.42

0.47

8%

3.0

0.12

0.30

0.44

1.38

thousand tonnes

PRODUCTION

Bleached Pulp

Printing and Writing Papers 

million euros

SALES

OPERATING RESULTS

FINANCIAL RESULTS

NET RESULTS

CASH FLOW

EBITDA

EBITDA / SALES

NET DEBT

CAPEX (booked investments)

COVERAGE OF FIXED ASSETS

permanent capital / (net fixed assets + medium and long term inventories)

EQUITY RATIO

(equity + minority interests) / net assets

LEVERAGE

net debt / (equity + minority interests + net debt)

ROCE

operating results / (total net assets - non interest bearing liabilities)

NET DEBT / EBITDA

euros

Net results per share

Cash Flow per share

EBITDA per share

Book value per share
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PORTUCEL SOPORCEL GROUP

“50 years of experience in the pulp industry and more than

30 years of paper know-how”

The Portucel Soporcel Group has a production capacity of over 1

million tonnes of paper and 1.2 million tonnes of pulp, with an

area of 138 thousand hectares of forest under management. The

Group owns three mills, located in Figueira da Foz, Setúbal and

Cacia, equipped with the most up-to-date technology, which are

a benchmark for quality within the sector.

FOREST - Area under management - 138,000 hectares: 76% eucalyptus

BLEACHED PRINTING AND

EUCALYPTUS PULP WRITING PAPERS

260,000 tonnes/year – market pulp CACIA PULP MILL

500,000 tonnes/year – integrated pulp FIGUEIRA DA FOZ INTEGRATED PULP AND PAPER MILL 800,000 tonnes/year

160,000 tonnes/year – integrated pulp SETÚBAL INTEGRATED PULP AND PAPER MILL 275,000 tonnes/year

320,000 tonnes/year – market pulp

Bleached Eucalyptus Kraft Pulp

Uncoated Woodfree Paper

PORTUCEL

Forest (Eucalyptus)

PORTUCEL FLORESTAL

Research and

Development

RAIZ

Bleached Eucalyptus Kraft Pulp

Uncoated Woodfree Paper

SOPORCEL

Forestry Services

ALIANÇA FLORESTAL

Forest

Bleached Eucalyptus Kraft Pulp

ENCE

UNIVERSITIES AND

PORTUGUESE AGRICULTORS’

ASSOCIATION

82% 47% 100% 50% 8%

18% 47% 50%

6%

>> >> >> >> >>
>> >>>> >>



VERTICAL INTEGRATION

Following a growth strategy oriented towards integration into

paper, the Portucel Soporcel Group became one of the five

largest European producers of uncoated woodfree paper (UWF),

with an annual turnover of over one billion euros.

The vertical integration aims to achieve sustainable growth and

profitability, reinforcing the Company’s competitive advantage by:

>> reducing exposure to competition from lower cost pulp

producers;

>> reducing exposure to pulp price volatility;

>> increasing sales of products with higher margins;

>> moving to products with higher differentiation capabilities;

>> fostering production/commercial synergies.

1999

1,250

1,000

750

500

250

0

680

2000

740 275

2003

1,240 1,075

PRODUCTION CAPACITY (‘000 TON)

1999

100

75

50

25

0

100

2000

67 33

2003

35 65

MARKET PRODUCTION CAPACITY (%)

BEKP

UWF
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FOCUS ON UNCOATED WOODFREE PAPER

Using “Eucalyptus globulus” as the prime raw material for the

production of fine printing and writing paper of superior quality,

Portucel Soporcel Group has enhanced this source of competitive

advantage focusing on market segments with higher growth

and profitability potential where the company better

differentiates.

The accuracy of this strategy is illustrated by the brand

awareness and quality association of its brands, the continuous

and sustainable sales growth, the  enrichment of the geographic

and product mix and, above all, the premium price the market

pays for the Group’s products and brands.

BRAND AWARENESS OF GROUP’S MAIN BRANDS

NAVIGATOR

During the last years Navigator was sold in more than 45

countries all over the world, which makes it one of the few

Portuguese consumer brands with a truly global presence. Sales

volume has grown an impressive 40% from 2002 to 2003.

Navigator has achieved a leading position in the office paper

market. It is perceived as a top quality product and it is

rewarded by end-users with a relevant price premium.

During 2003 a major quality upgrade was done, establishing a

breakthrough and a new benchmark in the office paper market.

Parallel to that, a significant revamp of the range has been

conducted, namely through the introduction of new items,

aiming to clarify and highlight end-user benefits.

An ambitious international communication campaign has

been developed to increase brand awareness and product

involvement. Euro 2004 sponsorship is the cornerstone of

that campaign.

www.navigator-paper.com

PIONEER

Pioneer Office Paper represents another relevant step in Portucel

Soporcel Group’s  branding strategy. 

Following the identification of a market opportunity, Pioneer

was launched mid-summer across Europe. Pioneer is a premium

office paper specially designed for the highly demanding office

paper consumers. 

With a very personalized, highly sophisticated feminine image,

Pioneer puts forward a new concept of success. This is based on

the use of this premium office paper to deliver exceptional print

results no matter what type of document is involved, especially

in colour intensive jobs.

This clear positioning, added to the defined innovative

personality of Pioneer, aims to establish an emotional link

between consumers and the brand.

www.pionner-paper.com

 



SOPORSET

During the last years Soporset was sold in more than 50

countries all over the world, which makes it one of the few

Portuguese industrial brands with a truly global presence.Sales

volume has grown an impressive 62% from 2002 to 2003.

In Europe, Soporset is the best selling top quality offset paper

brand. Soporset also ranks first in both awareness and perceived

quality, among all types of offset papers sold in Europe. Both

translate in very high customer loyalty and sustain a premium

price policy.

www.soporset-paper.com

INASET

Inaset is the oldest offset premium brand in Europe. During

2003 a rebranding and repositioning strategy has been

implemented. This repositioning was designed to link the

tradition of a pioneering brand with the spirit of innovation that

has always characterized Inaset and it lends emphasis to more

than three decades as the benchmark in the manufacture of the

very best offset papers.

www.inaset-paper.com

Commercially, the Group has reinforced its market shares in

Western Europe, which represents about 85% of paper’s total

sales volume.
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FOREST: SUSTAINABLE MANAGEMENT

The Portucel Soporcel Group is responsible for the management

of 138 000 hectares of forest, which represents about 4.2% of

Portuguese forested area.

The Company’s forest activity is founded on the principles of

sustainability; this is the basis of an appropriate availability of

raw material, capable to ensure the market a forestry

management that is environmentally correct, socially acceptable

and economically viable.

The knowledge needed for adequate forest management has

been provided by R&D activity from RAIZ, the Forestry and Paper

Research Institute.

Among other things, Portucel Soporcel Group’s good forestry

practices aim to preserve natural resources, control water suplly,

protect forest biodiversity and adopt active measures to prevent

and combat forest fires; all this is done within the framework of

Portuguese standards for sustainable forest management

contained in PEFC (Programme for the Endorsement of Forest

Certification Schemes), in which application the Group is

strongly committed.

The Company has ensured such knowledge of best practices is

being transferred to its forestry producers and their

representative organisations. This has involved the introduction

of many technical support programmes which promote a

sustainable forest management.

The Group’s environmentally responsible attitude includes a

forestry management model aimed at reducing the greenhouse

effect, namely through:

>> Full use of the areas suitable for forestry for which it is

responsible;

>> Increased productivity in its forest plantations;

>> Forestry practices that maximise survival rates in forest

plantations and preserve natural resources;

>> Raising the age at which timber is felled;

>> Revitalising forest complementary activities;

>> Eco-efficient industrial units.

 



ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABLE MANAGEMENT

Portucel Soporcel Group’s presence in the national and

international market is based upon a rigorous respect for the

environment. In terms of sustained development, the

preservation of natural resources has been a major concern in

the Group’s management, and is reflected in all of its social and

environmental activity.

As a result of the large investments made, the industrial process

has very little impact on the environment and the paper

produced is recognized for its top quality, namely in terms of

whiteness, strength, opacity and bulk.

Portucel Soporcel’s mills are in line with the most demanding

international rules in terms of Quality and Environment

certifications - ISO 9001 and ISO 14001.

In the last decade, specific water consumption at the Group’s

mills fell to less than a half through increased reutilization. The

most recent technology allows achieving very favourable

performance within the sector. That is the case of the paper mill

at Figueira da Foz, showing a consumption of 8 m3 per tonne of

uncoated woodfree paper produced.

Around 80% of the mill’s waste coming directly from production

(mud, ashes, wood nodes) are reutilized on the Group’s forests,

agricultural soils and recycling as well.

Energy rationalisation is another relevant area in the Group’s

commitment to environmental preservation. Most of the energy

consumed in the Company’s mills has its origin in forest biomass

burning, particularly bark. This is a clean and renewable source

of energy that offers multi environmental benefits as a fuel oil

substitute.
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“HAND-IN-HAND” WITH NATURE

The Group’s mills are located in regions  of rare natural  beauty

which are important to preserve and value.

Within its corporate responsibility policy, Portucel Soporcel Group

supports and participates in projects that aim to preserve the

environment and improve the life quality of the surrounding

communities.

RNES PROJECT - NATURAL RESERVE OF SADO’S ESTUARY

Preservation of an “habitat” rich in avifauna through the transfer

to the Natural Reserve of Sado’s Estuary of land areas situated

on the Setúbal mill’s industrial perimeter.

DELFIM PROJECT

Support of a non-profitable  scientific project aimed at studying

and protecting the dolphins in the Sado Estuary, their natural

environment.

 



SIMRIA PROJECT - STANDING FOR RIA DE AVEIRO

Support of Ria de Aveiro’s decontamination programme within

Ria de Aveiro Inter-Municipal System (SIMRIA).

This project illustrates Cacia mill’s efforts to reduce its

environmental impact on the surrounding natural ecosystem.

“CANTAR DE GALO” PROJECT

Sponsored by the Navigator brand, this educational project,

carried out at the Cascavel Estate, develops nature related

education programmes that promote children’s contact with

animals and forest.

During 2003 this project was visited by almost 45,000 children.
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Portucel has been showing, since 1999, a market performance

better than Euronext Lisbon reference index. In 2003, the

Company’s shares accumulated a 20.7% gain, almost five

percentage points above the PSI 20, contributing very favourably

to the domestic stock market behaviour.

PORTUCEL SOPORCEL GROUP AT EURONEXT

A TRANSPARENT RELATIONSHIP

Portucel Soporcel Group’s high ability to generate funds,

reflected in the business EBITDA margin - the best among its

European peers - allowed the pursuit of this persistent growth

and vertical integration policy, from forest to paper.

Integration into paper was decisive to improve Company’s

profitability and increase cash-flow. Compared to the average of

the three previous years, EBITDA margin rose 10 percentage

points between 2000 and 2002, the years corresponding to the

integration period.

STOCK MARKET PERFORMANCE

The Group maintains a permanent contact with the market,

disclosing quarterly financial information and all important facts

that can affect Portucel performance on the stock market. This is

done granting transparency, regularity, equity, credibility and

justice to all shareholders.
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THE ECONOMIC BACKGROUND

During 2003, there was a weakening of global economic

activity, disappointing expectations held at the start of the

year. The prospects for economic growth remained weak and

there was a slowdown in the economic growth rate of the

three major economic blocks heading the world economy -

the United States, the European Union and Japan - following

the recessive situation already evident at the end of 2002. 

The loss of dynamism in the economy, particularly noted

during the first half of the year, was associated with a low

level of confidence in the economic agents and a

significant degree of uncertainty resulting from tensions

linked to the Iraq conflict. In addition to this, a turbulent

stock market and pronounced public and external account

imbalances in the advanced economies were factors that

accelerated the descent of economic activity in a

downward spiral across the globe.

In this context, the North American economy, engine of the

world economy, showed a clear tendency to weaken during

the first half of the year as a result of decreased  exports and

a slowdown in domestic consumption. The potential impact

of this was a reduction in the creation of employment and

drop in company profits. This was accompanied by a

significant reduction in company investment as a result of

low operating rates, reflecting weak demand, a climate of

instability and uncertainty and less favourable prospects in

the economic situation as a whole.

In the second half of the year most of the United States

indicators pointed to a favourable evolution, although

exchange market and monetary risks associated with

elevated external and public deficits had increased. The signs

of a recovery began to strengthened as evidenced by greater

dynamism in private consumption, production and

investment stimulated by tax reductions, lower interest rates

and an increase in exports sustained by the weak dollar

policy.

The economies of the eurozone generally mirrored the

evolution of the external situation and showed an overall

moderate growth rate (around 0.5%), with increasing signs

of a gradual recovery during the second half of the year.

This was driven by the increase in exports, a reflection of

the recovery in world economy and particularly in

economic activity in the United States, the emerging Asian

markets and Japan.

Exports thus affirmed their dynamic role in the recovery of

the European economy although the sustainability of this

recovery was threatened by the increasing strength of the

euro against the dollar. Indeed, although the strengthening of

the euro against the main currencies, and particularly the US

dollar, contributed to keeping inflation at low levels by

increasing pressure on the cost of imported goods, and

particularly raw materials and energy, the export sector was

penalised by the resulting loss of competitivity in world

markets.

Domestic demand remained weak, particularly in the area of

productive investment, reflecting low levels of business and

consumer confidence and the deterioration of employment

prospects despite a low and stable inflation rate (fluctuating

within the 2% limit), low interest rates and generally

favourable finance conditions. 

Reflecting the global economic trend and particularly the

weakening in the European economy, the level of economic

activity in Portugal went into recession with GNP showing a

fall of almost 1%. This was due to a drop in personal

consumption coupled with the modest growth of exports and 

 



lower public and private investment against low levels of

business and consumer confidence, increasing

unemployment, high levels of family and company debt and

a reduction in public expenditure under pressure from a

restrictive budgetary policy.

The prospects for the evolution of economic activity in 2004

are generally positive, and it is hoped that the trend towards

improved economic growth will be accompanied by a

gradual rise in prices.

The recovery of the North American economy appears

stronger, pointing to a level of growth in 2004 close to its

potential, driven by recovering investment and the

dynamism introduced by the presidential elections.

In Europe, the forecasts point to moderate economic growth

in 2004 against a background of a global recovery in activity

and consequent acceleration in world trade, this being a

scenario that would reduce the effects of the valuation of the

euro in export activity.

If expectations for a consolidation of recovery in the world

economy, and that of the eurozone in particular, are borne

out, the Portuguese economy should show the first signs of

a recovery during 2004. The recovery is likely to be hesitant

and below the European Union average, and will be mainly

driven by a growth in exports, since the worsening of

unemployment, the enforced wage restraint and budgetary

restrictions are likely to persist, creating conditions of weak

domestic demand.
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THE PAPER BUSINESS

In the present economic cycle, the European uncoated fine

papers industry underwent a particularly difficult year in

2003, with a global reduction in demand within Europe of

almost 1% (90,000 tonnes).

However, as previously forecast by Portucel Soporcel Group,

demand in Western Europe showed asymmetrical behaviour

over the course of the year. Sales of European producers

within Europe suffered a fall of 5% during the first half of the

year but stabilised in the second six months.

The improved performance seen within the second half of

2003 reflected the significant growth in the level of orders

emanating from Western European markets, especially in the

last four months of the year; this allowed a positive forecast

for the sales to this geographical area for the start of 2004.

It is estimated that, during 2003, imports in Western Europe

increased by almost 72,000 tonnes, with half of this going to

Eastern Europe. However, despite the improvement during

the year in the mix of imported products, with an increasing

percentage of sheeted paper products, these continue to

represent the poorer quality segments of the market.

In 2003 the internal market represented close to 83% of the

turnover for producers in Western Europe. Global sales,

(including exports) fell by 50,000 tonnes in comparison

with 2002.

An analysis by product reveals the very different contribution

made by each family of products in this market evolution. It

is a significant fact that consumption of office paper grew by

3% in spite of the unfavourable economic context and falling

employment in Europe.

2003 saw a continuation of the general fall in the average

sale prices of paper that had begun in 2002. In particular, the

reference index for the average price of standard office paper

in Europe (PIX) fell 7% compared to 2002. Likewise, the

indices for average prices of folio paper for the graphics

industry in Europe also showed a fall of between 5% and 6%

depending on the geographic market.

Pressure on prices worsened during the second half of the

year in all the European countries and for all products despite

a context of generally improved demand. It is likely that this

apparently paradoxical situation, which is unusual in the

industry, was due to the significant valuation of the euro

against the dollar. This had implications in the price of the

main raw material - paper pulp - and in the export capacity

of the European producers, as well as making the typically

low priced imported products more competitive.

In this context, the commercial results for the Group's paper

business ended the year on a positive note, with the

following significant facts:

>> Increase in Portucel Soporcel Group paper sales volume by

3.5%, approximately 32,000 tonnes, totalling almost

938,000 tonnes;

>> Improvement in the mix of products sold, with an

increase of almost 60,000 tonnes in the sheeted paper

products. The transformed products represent almost 80%

of sales, in comparison with the European industry

average of 66%;

>> The Group's own brands assumed an increasingly

prominent position in the sales mix, with an increase in

volume of almost 49,000 tonnes;

>> The increase in paper sales volume and the mix

enrichment were reflected in relevant gains in the market

share. In Western Europe, the market share for office

papers rose from 14 to 15%, and in the large format

papers for the graphics industry, from 15 to 16%.

 



In 2003, the Group average prices for office paper in Europe,

fell by 7% in line with the evolution of the average market

price. However, in terms of folio sheets for the offset market,

the Group´s average prices in Europe  didn´t fall as much as

the market, decreasing less than 4%.

Portucel Soporcel Group made significant progresses in terms

of its own brands, namely:

>> The launch of the new brand of office paper Pioneer. This

represents an innovatory step in symbolic and emotive

brand differentiation aimed at appealing to the feminine

purchaser of office paper. 

>> The Inaset brand of offset paper underwent a major

rebranding programme aimed at strengthening the

Group's presence within the European graphics industry. 

>> The intrinsic quality of the Navigator brand was

highlighted in order to clearly differentiate this brand

against the competition. The whole of the European range

was reformulated to create greater clarity in product

differentiation, and a specific range was also launched

suited to the tastes and requirements of the North

American consumer.

>> For the third consecutive year, the independent study

carried out annually by Opticom International Research

with the end consumers, showed Navigator occupying a

leading position in the select group of high value office

paper brands in Europe.
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THE PULP BUSINESS

As a direct consequence of the behaviour of the demand for

paper, the pulp market presented a very irregular profile

during the year and suffered from significant pressure on the

sale price. In this context, the price of pulp during 2003

recorded the worst trend in the last five years, exacerbated

by the strong depreciation of the dollar, which was a

disturbing factor in relation to competitivity for European

producers.

At the start of the year, the price for short fibre pulp was at

a fairly low level but managed a sustained recovery through

the second and third quarters only to fall back significantly in

the third quarter of the year, thus demonstrating high

volatility.

Amid this discouraging scenario the average annual

operating rate for the Norscan producers was 93%, rising to

94% during the fourth quarter of the year.

This resulted in Norscan pulp stocks increasing from 1.6

million tonnes at the start of the year to 1.8 million tonnes at

the year end. This level exceeded the reference value of 1.5

million tonnes generally considered to be critical.

The inventory levels of bleached eucalyptus pulp from

Iberian and Brazilian producers stood at 719 thousand

tonnes at the end of the year. This figure exceeded the final

stock in 2002 by 216 thousand tonnes, representing an

increase of almost 43%.

Within this context the Portucel Soporcel Group made the

European market its priority, with particular emphasis on the

European Union countries (91% of sales), thus optimising the

logistical costs in sales.

Pulp sales volume for the Portucel Soporcel Group was 548

thousand tonnes, which represented a reduction of 8.6%

compared to the previous year.

 



RESOURCES

The Portucel Soporcel Group recognises that its forestry

sector, specifically the forestry assets and wood procurement,

is one of the fundamental strategic factors for the Group's

competitiveness. 

The Group carried out studies and projects aimed at

maximising exploitation of the Group's forestry sector, the

most important of these being the strategic plan and the

Integrated Forestry Planning System. The development and

implementation of this system began in April and it is

expected that the Group will have this new technology

available for use by the middle of 2004. 

This project involved a restructuring of concepts and

information supports in its different areas. This was done

namely through the reorganization of the geographical data

base and improvement of functionality, greater data

integration and application of the forestry inventory and of

the project for integrating unified records and contracts

management. 

The objectives defined within the forestry producer support

plan were consolidated through intensified communication of

its various different programmes. In the area of record and

contract management, the process involving the transfer of

Portucel Florestal and Soporcel's non-core assets to Lazer e

Floresta was initiated and completed. This allowed an

exchange of participations to take place guaranteeing a

100% share by the Portucel Soporcel Group in the forestry

assets dedicated to the production of eucalyptus pulp. As part

of this operation, the Portucel Soporcel Group exchanged its

shares in Lazer e Floresta - Empresa de Desenvolvimento

Agro-Florestal, Imobiliário e Turístico, S.A. and in Celpinus -

Empresa de Desenvolvimento Agro-Florestal, S.A., which

represented 60% of the share capital of each company, for

the shares that Portucel - Empresa de Celulose e Papel de

Portugal, SGPS, S.A. held in Portucel Florestal - Empresa de

Desenvolvimento Agro-Florestal, S.A., which represented

40% of its share capital.

As part of the project for Sustainable Forest Management

Certification, the Portuguese standard was presented by the

Portuguese Forestry Sector Council to the Pan European

Forest Certification Council. This standard was prepared jointly

with other companies in the sector, and with

commercial/professional organisations and forestry

producers' organisations.

PROCUREMENT

In the year under review, the Group wood procurement and

supply management and the strengthening of relationships

with the main suppliers were given particular importance.

Through these measures it was possible to increase the

purchase of wood in the market by approximately 80,000 m3

(equivalent unbark globulus), notwithstanding the impact of

forest fires that swept the country during the Summer, which

seriously affected plantations over an area of approximately

25,308 m3 of the Group's forests.

The rate of exploitation of the Portucel Soporcel Group's

own forest continued to be moderate, in order to

achieve sustained own wodd supply growth. Within this

policy, own wood supply to the mills remained low and

was complemented by increased purchases on the

domestic market.

The volume handled within the wood yards decreased by

35% compared to 2002. This was a consequence of lack of

competitiveness  of rail against road transportation.

FORESTRY ACTIVITY
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In order to increase interaction and communication between

the different parties involved in the forestry sector, Portucel

Soporcel Group hosted the second meeting with

entrepreneurs and forest producers at the Espirra Estate in

July 2003.

Similarly to what happened in the previous year, this meeting

attracted fifty forestry entrepreneurs and allowed the

discussion of common important strategic issues in the

different areas of forestry activity. Specifically, these were:

>> The market and procurement;

>> Best practices and research development in the fields of

genetic improvement, nutrition and control of pests and

diseases;

>> Actions and programmes to support forest owners.

It is noteworthy, among Portucel Soporcel Group's

participation in international events linked to forestry issues,

the invitation to contribute as a speaker to the first Ibero-

American Symposium on Eucalyptus Globulus. This was held

in Uruguay and the topic chosen was "The Global Market for

Eucalyptus Globulus”.

During 2003, an important study on the future availability of

eucalyptus wood in the Iberian Peninsula was prepared. In

addition, for the first time in Portugal, a study to characterise

wood suppliers was carried out; this study focused on

logistics, forestry practice, company development strategies

and the relationship of the supplier with the industry.

The Portucel Soporcel Group encourages a spirit of

partnership with all those involved in the forestry sector and,

in this context, 2003 also saw the launch of multi-annual

contracts with the Group's main suppliers. These suppliers

accounted for almost 50% of the total volume of wood

purchased by the Group on the market.

For an overall consumption totalling 3,680 million m3 in

2003, 3,474 million m3 were received by the Group three

mills (equivalent unbark globulus), of which 80% came from

the domestic market, 16% from own plantations and 4%

from imports (purchases already made in 2002 and stocked

abroad). In 2003, there was a clear growth in provision from

suppliers in the domestic market, with a decline in own

wood supply, and particularly in imports. 

SERVICES

Aliança Florestal, being the Group’s company rendering

services to the forest activity, continued to implement

measures designed to improve production costs in the

Group's own forests, both through adjustments to company

organisation and through technical and management

procedures adopted.

Within this scope, changes continued to be introduced aimed

at achieving operational savings. The improved attention

given to reforestation projects, the maintenance and

conservation practices in the plantations, the special training

at the work site, and the purchase of forestry exploitation

services through national tender are examples of this.



In the field of forestry exploitation using own resources,

modernising and rationalising work continued and the results

achieved in this area in 2003 were very favourable.

The major problem confronting this area was the exceptional

wave of forest fires experienced over the Summer, that

swept through an area exceeding 430,000 hectares, (almost

5% of the national territory), involving loss of life and

equipment, and assuming the proportions of a disaster on a

national scale.

The worst affected areas were the Tagus Valley and the

Algarve/Monchique mountains, these being areas where

Portucel Soporcel Group has a significant part of its forest

assets. The fires affected approximately 30% of the Group's

forests, although the losses caused affected only 37% of the

area at risk, around 10.5% of the total forestry assets. The

intervention of both Afocelca (Inter-company Agreement

with Celbi and Silvicaima for prevention and first intervention

in fighting forest fires) and Aliança Forestal employees was a

determining factor in minimising the potential losses.

During 2003, following the monitoring audit carried out

by APCER - Associação Portuguesa de Certificação, Aliança

Florestal received the Quality Management System

Certification in accordance with Standard ISO 9001-2000.

Forestation activity included the plantation over an area of

1,239 hectares, the maintenance over 8,005 kilometres of

roads and cleared areas, and in an area of 22,026 hectares of

planted forests, the fertilising over 10,243 hectares, and the

transportation to the Group’s mills of more than 606,900

cubic metres (equivalent unbarked) of own wood.
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PRODUCTION

In its industrial activities Portucel Soporcel Group privileged

the mill’s efficiency increase, the rationalisation of resources

and the costs reduction. 

Despite longer shutdowns needed to implement new

investment, the Group's total pulp production remained at

the same level as 2002, with Setúbal pulp mill establishing a

new annual production maximum.

In the paper area, the increase in the Group's total production

was essentially due to the performance of the Figueira da Foz

mill, which exceeded previous production maximums and

established annual maximums in both PM1, a 12 year old

machine, and PM2. It is noteworthy that, in June, PM2

recorded a new world maximum speed in the production of

uncoated graphic and office papers, after working non-stop

for 75 hours at a speed of 1,567 metres per second (around

94 km/hr).

In this context, production in the different mills was the

following:

The contribution made by Full Service Maintenance

Outsourcing has been fundamental to the performance levels

achieved. This was introduced in the Group's three pulp mills,

and has enabled a significant improvement in the mills

efficiency, as well as the reinforcement of outsourcing in

other areas of activity, which has contributed to  increased

efficiency and reduction of costs.

In the same context, other programmes were implemented

that have enabled greater efficiency and rationalisation;

among these was the Proflex project aimed at increasing

productivity and flexibility in the transformation and dispatch

sectors at the Figueira da Foz paper mill and the continuation

and broadening of Project E, aimed at increasing efficiency in

the Setúbal pulp mill. 

INVESTMENT

Special attention was paid to industrial investment during

2003 as a determining factor in raising the Group's

productivity and competitiveness. Investment was directed

specifically to modernising the industrial site and improving

efficiency, productivity and environmental protection.

The investment made at the Cacia mill was aimed at

improving overall production performance. This involved

modernisation, improving efficiency and rationalising costs in

areas such as woodchips transportation, pulp washing,

bleaching and evaporation. The benefits resulting from this

investment programme were visible in the second half of the

INDUSTRIAL ACTIVITY

Production (103 t)

Mill Pulp Paper

Cacia 244 -

Setúbal 480 237

Figueira da Foz 499 707

Portucel Soporcel Group 1,223 944



year, translated into significant improvements in

rationalisation and reduction in energy and water

consumption, as well as into increased rate and production

stability, ensuring greater evenness of pulp quality.

At the Setúbal pulp mill, investment was predominantly

environment oriented, with the completion of the re-

conversion of the biomass boiler to a fluidised bed boiler,

with significant improvement in energy efficiency and in

operational stability, while reducing energy costs and particle

emission. Pulp washing was also improved, allowing a

reduction in water consumption and an improvement in the

quality of integrated pulp.

A large industrial investment programme was implemented

at the Setúbal paper mill, namely in paper transformation

with considerable improvement in the capacity to respond to

greater market demands. Important upgrading investments

were also made in PM 1 and in the new folio reaming line.

These investments fully realised their aims both in terms of

improvement in quality and in production efficiency. In

December, the maximum monthly production figure was

achieved on PM 1, translated into a 4% increase on top of the

maximum previously achieved.

At the industrial complex at Figueira da Foz, the most

important investments were in the increase of paper cutting

and transformation capacity, and in the Environment III

project. A key feature of this project, involving costs of

around 24.7 million euros, is the start of construction and

assembly of the new recovery boiler, which will enable

compliance with the legal requirements on the European

directive from the Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control

Directive (IPPC), and will better respond to the mill's

potential production capacity.

Other investments include the remodelling of the limekiln

and biomass boiler areas, as well as the improvement in PM1

driers, the latter enabling increased machine efficiency and

regularity, contributing decisively to the good manufacturing

performance achieved at this industrial complex.
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During 2003, RAIZ - Forestry and Paper Research Institute -

responsible for pursuing research into the eucalyptus forestry

sector, continued its important work in the creation of know-

how in terms of forest, production process and product and

in the communication of this knowledge to the company

executives and specialists.

Notable progress has already been made through clone

selection, with significant gains in terms of the availability of

improved plants, adaptable to different edapho-climatic

conditions. This allowed gains in forest productivity and

increased technological value of the plants due to higher

industrial yield and density.

The nutritional needs of the eucalyptus are now well

understood, as are the tools to establish fertilisation

programmes appropriate to specific soil characteristics.

Likewise, the criteria for selecting the different methods to

fight diseases in eucalyptus forest have now been

systemised, and the standards for the application of the

knowledge acquired have been established.

Pulp engineering knowledge has also been systemised and

applied to national territory, making possible the exploitation

of several industrial optimization opportunities.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT



In 2003, the adaptation of the Quality Management and the

Laboratories Accreditation Systems to the new reference

Standards ISO 9000:2000 and NP EN ISO/IEC 17025

respectively, was completed. The integration of the Quality

and Environmental Management Systems was also concluded,

with Figueira da Foz mill being certified and Cacia mill

obtaining the transition certificate. The audit for certification of

Integrated System for Quality and Environmental

Management was carried out at the Cacia mill during 2003.

At the Setúbal mill implementation of the Environmental

Management System was completed in accordance with

Standard NP EN ISO/14001/99, with the audit for

certification of the first phase being completed and the

process due to be concluded during 2004.

In the third quarter of 2003, Portucel Soporcel Group also

began to implement a Work Health and Safety Management

System under the terms of references OHSAS 18001 and NP

4397. This is to be integrated into the current Quality and

Environmental Management System to constitute a single

Integrated System for Quality, Environmental and Safety

Management.

All the other systems were already certified and have kept

certification through the various audits carried out during

2003 by the competent bodies.

The Portucel Soporcel Group is increasingly committed to

developing quality in all its aspects as one of the competitive

factors to its current success in the pulp and uncoated printing

and writing papers markets.

Accordingly, the decision to specialise the Cacia mill in the

production of white pulp for specialty papers segment was

reinforced; this is reflected in the allocation of more than

67% of its production to this segment of the market. It should

be noted that the changes made to quality were the result of

investments made to improve production stability features

and to increase pulp porosity, suited to some special papers

applications.

The pulp mills at Setúbal and Figueira da Foz continued to

focus on the specialisation of their production towards high

quality printing and writing papers, reinforcing their future as

integrated mills.

Given the Group´s increasing emphasis on paper, it is in paper

product development that most effort has been concentrated

on achieving particularly high standards of quality. This is

confirmed by continuous benchmarking against the main

international competition as new products are developed

that will meet the needs of the market and diversify the

Group's paper offer. This also supports the commercial area

by providing evidence of the attributes and advantages of the

Company's paper against the competition.

Still in terms of quality, the Group's collaboration with

external bodies should be highlighted, specifically

universities, research and development centres and

equipment and raw materials suppliers, both through

research partnerships and through holding seminars and

offering periods of training. 

Environmental issues continue to be at the forefront of the

Group concerns and have been the object of a proactive and

continuously responsive policy. This policy incorporates full

adoption of sustained development practices and principals,

making Portucel Soporcel Group one of the most active

Portuguese members of the World Business Council for

Sustainable Development. In this context, the Group hosted

the seminar on "Treatment of Industrial Waste” organised by

the Business Council for Sustainable Development.

QUALITY AND ENVIRONMENT
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The Environmental Impact Council continued to meet twice

yearly at Portucel, independently chaired and including

representatives from universities and research institutes. The

purpose of these meetings is to monitor the environmental

activity of the Group and to provide opinions and

recommendations on this subject to the Management Board.

In order to meet the legal requirements on environmental

matters, preparation began on the Applications for

Environmental Licenses according to the terms stipulated in

DL 194/2000. The applications relating to the Setúbal pulp

and paper mills have already been submitted to the

competent authorities.

The Group also began work on preparation for the European

Trade of CO2 Emission Licenses, which will begin in 2005,

inventorying and auditing current emissions.

During 2003, other actions to improve environmental

performance were taken: increase efficiency in water use,

resulting in a reduction in water consumption and enhanced

value of solid waste; the Company has paid continued

attention to these areas, as demonstrated in its industrial

investment policy.

Investment made at the Cacia mill showed tangible results in

reducing water consumption. The mill treatment station

continues to provide a service to the surrounding community,

ensuring the biological treatment of the final effluent from

the urban sewage systems of the villages of Cacia and

Esgueira.

In Setúbal, the alteration of the Biomass Boiler has resulted

in a significant reduction in the particle content of gaseous

emissions. The combustion gases from the limekilns are

exploited to produce Precipitated Calcium Carbonate, which is

a consumable used in the paper mill, and this has

substantially reduced the emissions of these gases into the

atmosphere.

In terms of environmental performance, the Portucel

Soporcel mills achieved excellent results and in many

parameters exceeded the requirements of current

Portuguese legislation.



ENVIRONMENTAL INDICATORS

The following graphs show the average annual environmental parameter figures for the various pulp and paper mills.

LIQUID EFFLUENTS
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During 2003, work continued to achieve progressive

uniformity, modernisation and extension of the Portucel

Soporcel Group's information systems, this being an element

of the utmost importance for the efficient management and

operation of the Group.

Among many activities, the following stand out:

>> Availability of the information system supporting the

accountancy principles known as the “International

Accounting Standards”;

>> Technological and functional updating of the information

system supporting the commercial manufacturing area in

the Setúbal paper mill;

>> Support to investment in the production areas aimed at

integrating the new elements into existing operations;

>> Development and implementation of new functionalities

to meet the new requirements arising from

complementing production operations, and to improve

relationship with suppliers and customers;

>> Implementation of solutions to support new forms of

marketing and dispatch of paper products;

>> The start of implementation of solutions aimed at

providing the Group with uniform analytical management

support tools;

>> The start of implementation of solutions aimed at

providing the Group with an integrated Industrial

Information System;

>> The start of implementation of systems to support

management and to integrate unstructured information,

considered critical to activity and relationships with

outside entities;

>> Monitoring of the implementation of the Integrated

Forestry Planning System, as well as the harmonisation of

all its functional components;

>> Implementation of the Onefinance project intended to

extend and optimise the Accounts and Financial

Management information system to all the Group's

companies;

>> Installation of a video conference system to link the

different sites and commercial offices abroad.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SYSTEMS



During 2003, human resources management continued the

policy of employees personal and professional development

in order to promote continuous strengthening of the Group's

competitive position.

Accordingly, there was an increase in the number of training

hours, particularly in the technical field. The aim was to

promote multi-skills among the workforce through training in

the workplace. A total of 780 training activities, involving

4,607 participants over a period of 152,603 hours were

carried out.

The areas of health and safety at work as well as questions

relating to quality and the environment continued to receive

particular attention as part of the Group's overall focus on

ongoing improvement, maintaining a special emphasis on

prevention and training.

The number of employees of Portucel Soporcel Group at the

end of 2003 stood at 2,229, which represents a reduction of

67 employees in comparison to the end of the previous year.

HUMAN RESOURCES
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A natural consequence of the size and increased

competitiveness of the Portucel Soporcel Group is a

heightened assumption of responsibility in its commitment to

the surrounding community, its shareholders, its employees,

its commercial partners and the community in general.

It is within this framework of commitments that the Group

has shaped its conduct according to the principles governing

its development, including participation in organisations at

national and international level that promote sustainable

development and socially responsible practices.

Accordingly, as a member of the World Business Council for

Sustainable Development (WBCSD), the Group participated in

the international meeting held by this organisation in Lisbon

in 2003, in which among the issues addressed were the

measures to be taken to support companies in drawing up

reports specifically on matters concerning sustainable

development.

At national level, the Group joined the Portuguese Association

for Corporate Responsibility (RSE - Portugal) as a founder

member, thus seeking to monitor good corporate practice and

to give its contribution to the dissemination of this goal.

During the year under review, the Group also continued its

policy of corporate responsibility by actively supporting

projects promoting culture and improving community quality

of life.  The following are some examples: 

>> The dolphin project aimed at protecting the dolphins in

the River Sado Estuary;

>> The educational project, "Cantar de Galo”, which is aimed

at developing education programmes that provide

information and contact with Nature. Almost 45,000

children participated in this programme in 2003;

>> Restoration of a XVIII century church in Lavos in the district

of Figueira da Foz; 

>> The Ecological Diary, an environmental education

programme promoted by the Rio Azul Schools Group and

distributed to all 1st level pupils in Setúbal;  

>> The Braille edition of the newspaper "O Independente”,

distributed to a large number of national special needs

teaching institutions;

>> The "A School, a Friend" project, initiated by Setúbal town

council and involving support provided by the Group to a

school in the region through activities and initiatives

within the school community.

In addition, the Portucel Soporcel Group continues to give

support to social welfare institutions and to schools in the

geographical areas where the Group's mills are located.

This partnership is set in a context of regular collaboration

with local institutions working in social, cultural, sporting and

recreational fields.

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY



Following a period of stagnation in the first months of the

year, the main international markets began a trend towards

recovery against a scenario of very low interest rates and

depressed share prices in many companies.

The capital markets thus broke away from the run of three

consecutive years of heavy losses and closed 2003 with very

significant gains.

Following this recovery trend, Euronext Lisboa index showed

a considerable annual gain of almost 16%, and was one of

the European markets with the highest valuation in 2003

after a fall of almost 26% in the previous year.

Amidst this scenario of recovery, Portucel closed the year

with a cumulative gain of 20.7%, almost five percentage

points above the average for companies comprising the

PSI 20 index, and having thus made a very favourable

contribution to the performance of the national market.

Portucel's stock market valuation was also one of the highest

in the European pulp and paper sector.

Portucel joined Next Prime, one of the new segments that

Euronext Lisboa index adopted for the Portuguese market in

2003. Membership of this new index represents an

opportunity to raise Company visibility in the capital markets,

enabling it to reach a greater number of investors.

The Company participated in an event in the Paris stock

exchange that brought together hundreds of investors and

companies belonging to Next Segments. Portucel also took

part in a road show with Euronext in Paris and London,

organised with the aim of making the leading Portuguese

companies better known to international institutional

investors.

In terms of transactions, Portucel traded almost 129 million

shares during 2003, the equivalent of a monthly average of

10.7 million shares.

At the end of 2003, Portucel's share capital was floated

among more than 14 thousand national and foreign

shareholders, with institutional investors holding 83% of the

shares listed, with the remaining 17% being held by private

shareholders.

THE CAPITAL MARKET
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Despite the climate of global economic weakness, which had

a negative effect on the pulp and paper industry, with sales

volume and results heavily affected by the significant drop in

the sale prices of pulp and paper, the Group once more saw

plain evidence of the benefits of the integration of its

operations; this was reflected in the volume impact of

product transactions and in reduced volatility of earnings.

In this context, the turnover of the Portucel Soporcel Group

reached 1,000.6 million euros, representing a decrease of 85

million euros compared to last year. Turnover in the paper

business amounted to 749.5 million euros, which

represented approximately 75% of the Group’s total turnover.

The operating profit in 2003 was almost 111.0 million euros,

representing a decrease of almost 80 million euros relative to

the previous year.

The EBITDA was 258.7 million euros, achieving a margin of

26%, and the operational cash flow was 211.0 million euros,

approximately 21% over sales.

The financial results showed a negative figure of 44.3 million

euros compared to a similarly negative result in the previous

year of 57.3 million euros.

The reason for this evolution lies in the reduction in the

average level of financing, expressed in the Group's net debt,

which was reduced between the end of 2002 and the end of

2003 by 70.7 million euros, equivalent to 7%, and also in the

risk management policy that minimised the effects of the

extremely unfavourable behaviour of the dollar and the

pound, both of which are currencies affecting company sales.

Accordingly, the pre-tax profit totalled 70.1 million euros. This

was negatively affected by 8.3 million euros (4.3 million due

to forest fires and 4 million euros of redundancy costs), and

positively by 7.8 million euros as a result of the forestry

holdings restructuring.

The Group adopted the special taxation system for holding

companies with effect from 1st January 2003. Total income

tax of 3.3 million euros is deducted by a total of 21.3 million

euros due to various factors, specifically the application of a

Fiscal Reserve for Investment as provided for in Decree-Law

no. 23/2004 of 23rd January, and the alteration of Corporate

Income Tax in assessing deferred tax. Accordingly, the net

profit for the Portucel Soporcel Group was 66.8 million euros,

representing a reduction of 25% on 2002.

ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL RESULTS



Although there are prospects for world economy recovery,

the perspectives for the pulp and paper sector activity in

2004 should be viewed cautiously.

It is predicted that the recovery of the main economies will

still be slow during the first half of the year, especially in

Europe, with a more favourable trend developing in the

second half of the year when the effects of consolidation of

demand growth and the consequent acceleration of global

trade will be felt.

Amidst a scenario forecasting positive evolution in economic

activity, it is expected that European consumption of fine

uncoated papers will grow by 2 to 4%, this evolution being

mainly supported by a growth of 4 to 5% in office papers and

of 2 to 3% in graphic papers. This will naturally depend on

the strength of economic development in Europe and on the

evolution of the European currency against the dollar, this

being a decisive factor for the competitiveness of the

European industry.

The European pulp and paper market will not see ground for

optimism at least in the first months of the year, with product

prices forecasted to remain at low levels.

In 2004, the pre-engineering study for the installation of a

new paper machine will be completed.

Throughout 2004, Portucel Soporcel Group will use its

capacity and potential to continue the implementation of its

growth and integration strategy, consolidating this through

the dynamic pursuit of improved competitiveness and

increased economic value in its operations.

On 30th December 2003, Resolution no. 194/2003 of the

Council of Ministers was published approving the tender rules

for competitive bidding to sell 30% of Portucel's share

capital, provided for as part of the 2nd phase of the re-

privatisation of the Company under the terms of article 10 of

Decree-Law no. 6/2003 of 15th January. This process will be

concluded during the first six months of 2004.

THE OUTLOOK
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Further to the proposal of the Board of Directors, the General

Meeting of Shareholders held on April 20th 2004, approved

the following appropriation of the net profit for the year

2003, totalling 66,840,415.71 euros

>> To Legal Reserve under the terms of current legislation:

3,342,020.79 euros.

>> To Dividend Stabilisation Reserve in accordance with

article 25 of the Company By-Laws: 6,349,839.49 euros.

>> To Dividends: 24,176,250.00 euros.

>> To Retained Earnings: 32,972,305.43 euros.

APPROPRIATION OF RESULTS

Setúbal, 1st March 2004

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Jorge Armindo de Carvalho Teixeira - Chairman

Luis Alberto Caldeira Deslandes - Member

Artur Porfírio Silveira de Almeida Soutinho - Member

Manuel Maria Pimenta Gil Mata - Member

Manuel Guilherme Oliveira da Costa - Member

Álvaro Roque de Pinho Bissaia Barreto - Member

Carlos António Rocha Moreira da Silva - Member



The governing bodies of Portucel - Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A.

are as follows:

Board of the General Meeting

President: João António Morais Silva Leitão

Vice President: Alfredo Manuel de Oliveira Varela Pinto

Secretary: António Alexandre de Almeida e Noronha da

Cunha Reis

Board of Directors

Chairman: Jorge Armindo de Carvalho Teixeira

Member: Luis Alberto Caldeira Deslandes

Member: Artur Porfírio Silveira de Almeida Soutinho

Member: Manuel Maria Pimenta Gil Mata

Member: Manuel Guilherme Oliveira da Costa

Member: Álvaro Roque de Pinho Bissaia Barreto

Member: Carlos António Rocha Moreira da Silva

Statutory Auditor

Official Auditor: Belarmino Martins, Eugénio Ferreira e Associados,

SROC represented by António Alberto Henrique

Assis or Eugénio Luís Lopes Ferreira

Alternate Official Auditor: José Manuel de Oliveira Vitorino

Environmental Impact Council

José Manuel Soares de Oliveira

Carlos Sousa Reis

Rui Manuel Baptista Ganho

Serafim Manuel Bragança Tavares

GOVERNING BODIES
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Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Code approved

by Decree-Law 262/86 of 2nd September, the following

information is provided in the form of an appendix to the

Portucel - Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A.,

Directors' Report.

1. For the purposes of the provision of Article 447.5 of the

Companies Code the undernoted corporate officers own the

following Portucel, S.A. shares in accordance with the

provisions of Articles 447.1, 447.2 and 447.3 of the said code:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Jorge Armindo de Carvalho Teixeira 113,995 shares

Manuel Guilherme Oliveira da Costa 1,000 shares

Neither the foregoing corporate officers nor the other

corporate officers of the Company and of group or controlling

undertakings hold other bonds or shares in the companies in

question.

During 2003 corporate officers undertook the following

transactions:

2. For the purpose of the provisions of Article 448.4 of the

Companies Code, the list of shareholders owning at least one

tenth of the share capital of Portucel, S.A., as at 31 December

2003, is as follows:

Nº shares Voting rights

Portucel SGPS, S.A. 427,682,769 55.72%

Sonae Wood Products, BV 191,877,678 25.00%

APPENDIX

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Luis Alberto Caldeira Deslandes

Transaction Nº. shares Date Unit price

Sale 40,000 12/11/2003 1.40 Euros



REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (C.M.V.M. Regulation n.º 11/2003)

CHAPTER I - DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION >> COMPANY ORGANISATION CHART

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

JORGE ARMINDO
LUIS DESLANDES ARTUR  SOUTINHO
MANUEL GIL MATA GUILHERME COSTA
ÁLVARO BARRETO MOREIRA DA SILVA

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

JORGE ARMINDO
LUIS DESLANDES ARTUR  SOUTINHO
MANUEL GIL MATA GUILHERME COSTA

INTERNAL AUDITING

Neutel Neves

COMPANY SECRETARY

António Cunha Reis

CORPORATE
IMAGE AND COMMUNICATION

Ana Nery

SETÚBAL PULP MILL

Oscar Arantes

SETÚBAL PAPER MILL

Alberto Vale Rego

CACIA PULP MILL

José Nordeste

MAINTENANCE

Joaquim Belfo

TECHNICAL

José Ataíde

PROJECT NUCLEUS

Ângelo Loureiro

PAPER COMMERCIAL

António Redondo

PULP COMMERCIAL

FINANCE

Maria Jesus Monteiro

ACCOUNTS

Maria Jesus Monteiro

MANAGEMENT PLANNING
AND CONTROL

Jerónimo Ferreira

PERSONNEL AND ORGANISATION

João Ventura

Dias Fernandes

I.T. SYSTEMS

Jerónimo Ferreira

PURCHASING

José Freire

WOOD PROCUREMENT

Victor Coelho

SUPPORT SERVICES

Paulo Valdez

INVESTOR
RELATIONS

Leonor Cardoso

FIGUEIRA PULP AND ENGINEERING

Adriano Silveira

FIGUEIRA PAPER MILL

Carlos Vieira

FORESTRY SERVICES

Rogério Freire

Pedro Moura

FORESTRY ASSETS

Rogério Freire

LEGAL SERVICES

Varela Pinto

Dias Almeida

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Álvaro Barreto

Artur Soutinho

Moreira da Silva
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There are no specific committees within the company, specifically relating to ethics, evaluation of company structure or company

governance.

Evolution of share prices

Portucel ended 2003 with a gain of 20.7%, a valuation almost 5 percentage points above that recorded by the main domestic market

reference index in which it is included - the PSI 20. Over the course of the year the price quoted for Portucel shares demonstrated

sustained growth and maintained a positive balance, with monthly falls limited to July and August. In the first quarter of the year, this

evolution was against the cycle of the domestic market as a whole; at the end of April, Portucel had already accumulated a gain of

12.1% although the PSI 20 was showing a fall in value of 5.9% compared to the start of the year. 

There were two days on which Portucel shares were valued above 6%: April 24th, the day immediately following the ex-date for

payment of dividends, and October 14th, the day on which the work of the General Meeting was suspended. This meeting had been

called to consider the proposal for a forthcoming increase in the Company capital. The graph below shows the evolution of the

Company's share price, identifying the principal facts communicated to the market.
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Dividend Distribution Policy

The proposal for dividend distribution falls within the competence of the Portucel Board of Directors, subject to current legislation and

the company statutes. According to the statutes a minimum annual sum corresponding to twenty per cent of distributable profit must

be distributed to the shareholders in the form of dividends. The Board of Directors formalised a proposal for appropriation of the results

of 2002, which was considered and favourably voted in the General Meeting held on March 31st 2003, with the approval of a gross

dividend payment of 0.0315 euros per share; dividend was paid on April 28th 2003. 

Given the very cyclical nature of the industry, the Company considers it is advantageous to stabilise the level of dividends to be paid.

This intention is stated in the articles of association that call for a reserve to be set aside for the purpose, increased each year by 10%

of the distributable profit.

Share distribution plans and stock options

There are no share distribution plans or stock options in force at present.

Description of business and operations main elements

Under this heading, mention should be made to the exchange of company shares referred to in page 30.

Investor Relations Office

Portucel has an Investor Relations Office since November 1995, created with the aim of ensuring continuous and adequate contact with

the financial community - investors, shareholders, analysts and regulatory bodies - and encouraging the disclosure of the Company's

financial and other information relevant to the performance of Portucel's shares on the capital market, in accordance with the principles

of coherence, regularity, equity, credibility and timeliness. All the communications and press releases concerning the quarterly, half year

and annual results, as well as all the relevant facts occurring are made available by the Investor Relations Office on Portucel's internet

site, at the address www.portucelsoporcel.com.

Maria Leonor Teixeira Gomes Cardoso is Portucel's Investor Relations Officer and can be contacted by telephone on + 351 21 3824200

or at the following email address: leonor.cardoso@portucel.pt.
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Auditor remuneration

The annual sum paid to the auditor totalled 297,640 euros, broken down as follows:

34.4% to carry out the legal review of the accounts

4.2% to other work to ensure reliability

10.0% to fiscal advice

51.4% to services other than the legal review of accounts, and which relate wholly to support in implementing the International

Accounting Standards, including training and translation of the Explanatory Notes to the Financial Statements.

Our auditors have introduced stringent internal rules to guarantee that their independence is safeguarded. These rules were adopted in

the provisions of services included in points c) and d) above and were monitored by the Company.

CHAPTER II - EXERCISE OF VOTING RIGHTS AND SHAREHOLDER REPRESENTATION

Portucel has always had a policy designed to encourage shareholder participation in General Meetings; this takes the form of periodic

disclosure of reports of its activity and of its economic and financial results, and is a policy that aims to go beyond mere compliance

with the applicable legislation.

Shareholders wishing to participate in the Portucel General Meeting must prove to be title-holders of Portucel shares, which must be

registered in their name not less than eight days before the date assigned for the Meeting, and must remain so registered until the

close of the Meeting. The articles of association allow all the shareholders to take part in the General Meeting regardless of the number

of shares they hold. There are, however, rules limiting voting rights.

Without prejudice to the right of grouping, one vote shall be counted for each one thousand shares, without counting the votes which

exceed those corresponding to twenty-five percent of the share capital, when the same are issued with reference to ordinary shares,

for a single shareholder in his/her own name or as representative of another person.

It is Portucel's practice to provide for postal voting and proxy voting in the notice of the General Meeting, detailing all the established

rules and ensuring that shareholders are informed in a simple and expeditious way. Portucel does not at present envisage the possibility

of exercising voting rights by electronic means.

During the period preceding the General Meetings, the Investor Relations Officer analyses all the queries raised and provides all the

information necessary for shareholders to be fully informed.



CHAPTER III - COMPANY RULES

Portucel is governed by the law applicable to public limited companies and by its by-laws, and no specific legislation is applicable to its

business.

Following the election of two new members to the Board of Directors at the General Meeting held on March 31st 2003, which brought

the number of board members to seven, an Executive Committee was elected and internal rules drawn up to establish the competence

of this committee and the matters that must necessarily be approved by the full Board of Directors. This is an internal operational

document of the Board of Directors, the aim of which is to establish the rules by which it operates.

In terms of internal control procedures, Portucel has an internal audit body that exercises its activity at every level of the Company; this

is of course in addition to its Statutory Auditor and the external auditors that are mandatory according to law.

Risk management is undertaken at several levels through the Management Planning and Control Division, the Financial Division and the

Investor Relations Office that monitors the movement of Portucel's share price. All the Company departments publish exhaustive

documents on a monthly or fortnightly basis reviewing the Company's economic and financial situation.

During 2002, a specific body was created to monitor and analyse patrimonial risks. In 2003, an Audit Commission was also set up, whose

competences are listed on page 55 of this Report.

The Mills Directors also draw up fortnightly operating reports providing operational information, with specific reference, among other

things, to matters requiring urgent attention, equipment maintenance and stocks.

With regard to commercial activity, the Company's Marketing Division issues a weekly report providing information on the performance

of pulp and paper sales, market trends and prospects, and stock levels.

The Company is unaware of any shareholder agreements entered into by its shareholders. Limits to voting rights are solely those set

out in the by-laws and referred to above.
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CHAPTER IV - MANAGEMENT

Portucel has a Board of Directors comprising seven members, the Chairman and six members. Five of the members are executive

directors and make up the Executive Committee, which was elected and whose powers were delegated by the Board of Directors, and

another two Directors are non-executive. 

The Board members comprising the Executive Committee are as follows:

Jorge Armindo de Carvalho Teixeira (Chairman)

Luis Alberto Caldeira Deslandes (Member)

Artur Porfírio Silveira de Almeida Soutinho (Member)

Manuel Maria Pimenta Gil Mata (Member)

Manuel Guilherme Oliveira da Costa (Member)

The non-executive Directors are:

Álvaro Roque de Pinho Bissaia Barreto (Member)

Carlos António Rocha Moreira da Silva (Member)

For the purposes of article 1.2 of CMVM Regulation nº 11/2003, the following are not considered Independent Directors: Jorge Armindo

Carvalho Teixeira (Chairman), Artur Porfírio Silveira de Almeida Soutinho (Board Member) and Manuel Maria Pimenta Gil Mata, because

they are part of the Board of Directors of the shareholder Portucel - Empresa de Celulose e Papel de Portugal, SGPS, S.A..

It is our understanding that the remaining Directors are not subject to any of the criteria mentioned in the article referred to in the

previous paragraph, unless it is understood that, because they are also Directors of Soporcel - Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A., they

are subject to point c) of the said legal provision.

The powers delegated to the Executive Committee are the following:

a) To propose to the Board of Directors the policies, objectives and strategies of the Company;

b) To propose to the Board of Directors the general lines of internal organisation of the Company, including choosing the Vice President

of the Executive Committee, allocating competences and responsibilities to each member of the Executive Committee and nominating

executives at management level;



c) To propose to the Board of Directors the operating budgets and medium and long term investment and development plans and to

execute these when approved;

d) To approve budget alterations during the financial year, including transfers between cost centres, provided that, cumulatively, these

do not exceed five million euros;

e) To approve purchase contracts for goods and services, provided that these, singly or cumulatively, and for each type of goods and

services, do not exceed five million euros;

f) To approve short term financing contracts representing increased indebtedness, provided these do not exceed five million euros;

g) To acquire, sell or charge the Company's fixed assets up to a maximum equivalent to five per cent of the paid share capital;

h) To take or give in rental any buildings or parts of properties;

i) To represent the Company judicially or extra-judicially, actively or passively, as well as to take and pursue any legal action, to admit

such actions or waive them, to transact and to enter into arbitration agreements.

j) To acquire, sell or charge shares in other companies, provided the operations in question are included in approved business plans;

k) To manage shares in other companies, specifically appointing their representatives to the corresponding corporate bodies and defining

guidelines for the actions of these representatives;

l) To enter into, alter or rescind employment contracts;

m) To open, move or close bank accounts; and  

n) To grant power of attorney.
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The Board of Directors also elected an Audit Committee, comprising:

Álvaro Roque de Pinho Bissaia Barreto (Chairman)

Artur Porfírio Silveira de Almeida Soutinho (Member)

Carlos António Rocha Moreira da Silva (Member)

The powers of the Audit Committee are those specified below and those explicitly granted to it by the Board of Directors.

Its generic powers are:

1. To evaluate procedures for the control of disclosed financial information (accounts and reports) and the periods for such disclosure,

having specifically to review the Group's annual, half year and quarterly accounts and publish and report on these to the Board of

Directors before their approval and signature by the Board.

2. To advise the Board of Directors on the choice of Statutory Auditor and express an opinion on the scope of action of the Internal

Auditor.

3. To discuss with the Statutory Auditor his annual reports, advising the Board of Directors on possible measures to be taken.

In performing its duties the Audit Committee will heed to the following facts:

(i) Alteration of accounting policies or practices;

(ii) Significant adjustments due to intervention of the auditor;

(iii) Progress in the relevant financial ratios and possible alterations to the Group's formal or informal rating;

(iv) Factors indicating significant financial exposure (such as currency, interest rate or derivative risks);

(v) Illegal or irregular procedures. 

The Audit Committee can also exercise its power to inspect and audit the Board of Directors, without prejudice to the powers attributed

to this body. Specifically, it can inspect all the accounts of the company and its associated companies, and obtain accounting and financial

information from the Group's employees, in so far as such measures are necessary to fulfil its responsibilities.



All the members of the Board of Directors have seats on the board of other companies as detailed hereunder:

Jorge Armindo de Carvalho Teixeira

Executive:

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Portucel - Empresa de Celulose e Papel de Portugal, SGPS, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Portucel Florestal - Empresa de Desenvolvimento Agro-Florestal, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Aliança Florestal - Sociedade para o Desenvolvimento Agro-Florestal, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Portucel Tejo - Empresa de Celulose do Tejo, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Sociedade de Vinhos da Herdade de Espirra - Produção e Comercialização de Vinhos, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Lazer e Floresta - Empresa de Desenvolvimento Agro-Florestal, Imobiliária e Turismo, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Celpinus - Empresa de Desenvolvimento Agro-Florestal, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Portucel International Trading, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Portucel International Trading, GmbH;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Imobiliária do Tojal - Compra, Venda e Gestão de Imóveis, S.A.;

>> Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chairman of the Executive Committee of Soporcel - Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Management of Tecnipapel - Sociedade de Transformação e Distribuição de Papel, Lda;

>> Chairman of CELPA - Associação da Indústria Papeleira.

Non-executive:

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Inapa, I.P.G. - Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the General Meeting of Aflomec - Empresa de Exploração Florestal, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the General Meeting of Viveiros Aliança - Empresa Produtora de Plantas, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Fundição do Alto da Lixa, S.A.;

>> Vice Chairman of AEP - Associação Empresarial de Portugal;

>> Chairman of the Audit Committee of CIP - Confederação da Indústria Portuguesa;

>> Member of the Audit Committee of Oporto Football Club.
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Luis Alberto Caldeira Deslandes

>> Member of the Board of Directors and Deputy Chairman of the Executive Committee of Soporcel - Sociedade Portuguesa

de Papel, S.A.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Aliança Florestal - Sociedade para o Desenvolvimento Agro-Florestal, S.A.;

>> Chairman of Portucel Soporcel Papel - Sales e Marketing, ACE

Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Portucel Soporcel Group associate companies:

>> Portucel Pasta y Papel, S.A.

>> Portucel UK, Ltd

>> Soporcel España, S.A.

>> Soporcel Italia, SRL

>> Soporcel France, EURL

>> Soporcel UK, Ltd

>> Soporcel International, BV

>> Soporcel North America, Inc

>> Soporcel 2000

>> Soporcel Deutschland, GmbH

>> Soporcel Austria, GmbH

Artur Porfírio Silveira de Almeida Soutinho

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Portucel Serviços - Empresa de Prestação de Serviços, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Arboser - Serviços Agro-Industriais, S.A.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Portucel - Empresa de Celulose e Papel de Portugal, SGPS, S.A.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Soporcel - Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Portucel International Trading, S.A.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Portucel International Trading, GmbH;

>> Director of Portucel Soporcel Papel - Sales e Marketing, ACE;

>> Member of the Board of Management of Tecnipapel - Sociedade de Transformação e Distribuição de Papel, Lda.;

>> Member of the Board of Management of Sacocel - Sociedade Produtora de Embalagens e Sacos de Papel, Lda.;

>> Member of the Board of Management of Empremédia - Corretores de Seguros, Lda.;

>> Director of Portucel Brasil, Lda.



Manuel Maria Pimenta Gil Mata

Executive:

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Enerpulp - Cogeração Energética de Pasta, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Management of Setipel - Serviços Técnicos da Indústria Papeleira, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Management of SPCG - Sociedade Portuguesa de Cogeração, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Socortel - Sociedade de Corte de Papel, S.A.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Soporcel - Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Portucel - Empresa de Celulose e Papel de Portugal, SGPS, S.A.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Arboser - Serviços Agro-Industriais, S.A.;

>> Member of the Sustainability Strategy Steering Group of the CEPI.

Non-executive:

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Rinave, S.A..

Manuel Guilherme Oliveira da Costa

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Soporcel - Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Gescartão, SGPS, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Portucel Viana - Empresa Produtora de Papéis Industriais, S.A.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Imocapital, SGPS, S.A.;

>> Director of Investalentejo, SGPS, S.A..

Álvaro Roque de Pinho Bissaia Barreto

Executive

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Soporcel - Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A.;

>> Member of the Portuguese Council and the International Council of INSEAD;

>> Vice-Chairman of IBET - Institute for Experimental and Technological Biology.

Non-executive

>> Non-executive Chairman of the Board of Directors of Tejo Energia, S.A.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Somincor - Sociedade Mineira de Neves Corvo, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the General Meeting of Portugália - Companhia Portuguesa de Transportes Aéreos, S.A.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Nutrinveste - Sociedade Gestora de Participações Sociais, S.A.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Mellol - Sociedade Gestora de Participações Sociais, S.A.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Nova Robbialac - Indústria Ibérica de Tintas, S.A..
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Carlos António Rocha Moreira da Silva

>> Chairman of the Executive Committee of Sonae Indústria - SGPS, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of BA - Fábrica de Vidros Barbosa & Almeida, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of BA - Vidrio, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of BA - Vidrios, Distribución y Comercialización de Envases de Vidrio, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of BA - Vidros Marinha Grande, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Bar.Bar.Idade - Imobiliário e Serviços, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Bar.Bar.Idade Glass - Serviços de Gestão e Investimentos, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Bar.Bar.Idade II - Consultores de Gestão, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Bar.Bar.Idade, SGPS, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Barbosa & Almeida - SGPS, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Cor.on.line - Comércio de Arte, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Glunz AG;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Isoroy SAS;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of P.F.V. - Paços de Ferreira Vidro, SGPS, S.A.;

>> Chairman of the Board of Directors of Tafisa France, S.A.;

>> Vice-Chairman of APGEI - Associação Portuguesa de Engenharia e Gestão Industrial;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Sonae Indústria - SGPS, S.A.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Sonae Indústria - Consultadoria e Gestão, S.A.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Sonae UK, Ltd.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Euromegantic, Ltée.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of 173509 Canada, INC.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Artividro - Arte em Vidro, Lda.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Tableros de Fibras, S.A.;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Tafibra - Tableros Aglomerados y de Fibras, AIE;

>> Member of the Board of Directors of Tafisa UK, Ltd.;

The Chairman of the Board of Directors who is simultaneously Chairman of the Executive Committee has the powers conferred to him

by law and company by-laws.

The Executive Committee can discuss all matters within the competence of the Board of Directors but only take decisions on the matters

referred to above. All matters dealt with by the Executive Committee, even those included in the delegated powers, are made known

to the non-executive Directors, who have access to the respective minutes and supporting documents.

There are no incompatibilities specifically defined by the Board nor is there a maximum figure established for the positions that may be

held by the Directors on boards of other companies.



During 2003, the Board of Directors met on 31 occasions; this figure includes 12 meetings of the Executive Committee.

The emoluments of the directors are established by a Remuneration Committee that establishes a sum for the fixed remuneration,

another for expenses incurred by representation and, if applicable, profit-based bonus payments. The Remuneration Committee

comprises the Chairman of the General Meeting, João António de Morais Silva Leitão (Chairman), Jorge Armindo Carvalho Teixeira

(Member) and Rui de Faria Lélis (Member).

Remuneration paid to the members of the Board of Directors in 2003 totalled 2,651,206.44 euros, of which 2,179,149.50 euros were

paid to executive directors and 472,056.94 euros paid to non-executive directors. Of the total remuneration, 243,489.97 euros were paid

by Portucel, S.A., 1,429,288.70 euros were paid by Portucel SGPS, S.A., and 978,427.75 euros were paid by Soporcel, S.A. The total paid

by Soporcel, S.A. includes 73,453.75 euros variable remuneration. No other variable remuneration was paid.

Declaration of compliance

Portucel, S.A. has already adopted the general recommendations governing companies. However, there are two aspects which are not

adopted in full, and which are detailed below:

1. Article 10º, n.º 3 of the By-Laws provides for the suspending of share dealing up to eight days before the date set for the General

Meeting; this means that the shares are suspended for six working days and not five, as recommended. In relation to this, it is made

clear that this ruling in the By-Laws predates the recommendation and that, in order to modify it, a statutory alteration would be

required; that will only be justified after the conclusion of the current process of re-privatisation together with other alterations that

will in due course be approved by the new shareholders.

2. The Remuneration Committee includes one of the members of the Board of Directors of Portucel, S.A., namely its Chairman, Jorge

Armindo de Carvalho Teixeira. This situation arises because of the fact that the latter is also Chairman of Portucel SGPS, a majority

shareholder, and also due to the fact that he does not receive remuneration from Portucel, S.A., but from Portucel SGPS, S.A.

In all else, there is full compliance with the recommendations on company governance.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2003 (Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)

2003 2002
Gross Depreciation Net Net

ASSETS Notes assets and provisions assets assets

FIXED ASSETS
Intangible assets

Formation expenses 39,989 (38,809) 1,180 4,644 
Research and development expenses 45,056 (37,477) 7,579 10,618 
Industrial property and other rights 2,110 (2,098) 12 202 
Consolidation differences 431,152 (51,678) 379,474 393,881 
Intangible assets in progress 10,150 - 10,150 7,142 

27 528,457 (130,062) 398,395 416,487 
Tangible fixed assets

Land and natural resources 99,468 (160) 99,308 133,696 
Buildings and other construction 364,772 (171,501) 193,271 207,709 
Machinery and equipment 2,163,055 (1,370,946) 792,109 846,386 
Transportation equipment 33,535 (20,372) 13,163 14,717 
Tools and utensils 3,816 (3,429) 387 509 
Office equipment 33,718 (27,474) 6,244 6,279 
Returnable containers 359 (184) 175 255 
Other tangible fixed assets 11,148 (9,296) 1,852 3,194 
Construction in progress 124,464 - 124,464 55,310 
Advances to suppliers of tangible fixed assets 41,948 - 41,948 10,848 

27 2,876,283 (1,603,362) 1,272,921 1,278,903 
Financial investments

Investments in affiliated companies 637 - 637 571 
Loans to affiliated companies 92 - 92 92 
Investments in associated companies 11 - 11 11 
Loans to associated companies - - - -
Securities and other financial investments 26,904 - 26,904 26,904 
Other granted loans 25 - 25 25 
Advances to suppliers of financial investments - - - -

27 27,669 - 27,669 27,603 
CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories - medium and long term
Work in process 215,339 - 215,339 279,767 
Advances to suppliers of inventories - - - -

53 215,339 - 215,339 279,767 
Inventories - short term

Raw materials and consumables 89,818 (25) 89,793 101,886 
Work in process 24,206 - 24,206 24,778 
Byproducts and waste 1,508 - 1,508 480 
Finished and intermediate products 57,358 (25) 57,333 47,636 
Merchandise 190 - 190 164 
Advances to suppliers of inventories 583 - 583 289 

53 173,663 (50) 173,613 175,233 
Accounts receivable - short term

Accounts receivable from customers - current account 193,039 (168) 192,871 206,605 
Accounts receivable from customers - trade bills - - - -
Doubtful accounts receivable 3,536 (3,242) 294 38 
Accounts receivable from Group companies - - - -
Advances to suppliers 3,755 (68) 3,687 2,682 
Advances to suppliers of fixed assets - - - 216 
State and other public entities 54 53,601 - 53,601 23,528 
Other debtors 56 2,949 (33) 2,916 5,591 

256,880 (3,511) 253,369 238,660 
Marketable securities

Other marketable securities - - - -
Other treasury applications - - - -

- - - -
Bank deposits and cash

Bank deposits 346,399 - 346,399 281,896 
Cash 48 - 48 46 

58 346,447 - 346,447 281,942 

ACCRUED INCOME AND DEFERRED COSTS
Accrued income 57 6,848 - 6,848 4,979 
Deferred costs 57 26,900 - 26,900 26,183 

33,748 - 33,748 31,162 

Total amortization and depreciation (1,733,424)

Total provisions (3,561)

Total assets 4,458,486 (1,736,985) 2,721,501 2,729,757 



EQUITY, MINORITY INTERESTS AND LIABILITIES Notes 2003 2002

EQUITY 
Share capital 767,500 767,500 
Own shares - nominal value (60) (60)
Own shares - discounts and premiums 7 7 
Adjustments in investments in affiliated and associated companies (551) (551)
Revaluation reserve 17,465 38,450 
Legal reserve 27,275 17,796 
Statutory reserve 37,775 29,262 
Other reserves (3,033) (3,102)
Retained earnings 189,655 121,339 
Net profit for the year 66,840 89,486 
Equity 51 1,102,873 1,060,127  

MINORITY INTERESTS 52 - 77,082 

OTHER PROVISIONS
Other provisions 46 4,598 5,456 

4,598 5,456 

MEDIUM AND LONG TERM LIABILITIES
Bank loans 50 876,049 890,035 
Accounts payable to suppliers of fixed assets 1,187 6,236 
Other creditors - 20 

877,236 896,291 

SHORT TERM LIABILITIES
Bank loans 50 189,861 148,867 
Advances from customers 201 478 
Accounts payable to suppliers 121,702 97,768 
Suppliers - invoices pending verification 8,430 10,165 
Accounts payable to Group companies 55 222,550 251,111 
Other bank loans 20 15 
Accounts payable to suppliers of fixed assets 52,804 17,005 
State and other public entities 54 6,277 18,885 
Other creditors 56 6,511 3,092 

608,356 547,386 

ACCRUED COSTS AND DEFERRED INCOME
Accrued costs 57 117,878 128,729 
Deferred income 57 10,560 14,686 

128,438 143,415 
Total liabilities 1,618,628 1,592,548 
Total equity, minority interests and liabilities 2,721,501 2,729,757 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME BY NATURE FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003
(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)

Notes 2003 2002

Operating revenues:
Sales and services rendered 36 1,000,618 1,085,604 
Increase/(decrease) between years of the ending balance of
inventories 6,292 (1,301)

Recovery of costs related to capital expenditure 5,499 1,937 
Supplementary income 2,142 2,478 
Operating subsidies 605 680 
Other income 1,227 622

1,016,383 1,090,020 
Operating expenses:

Cost of inventories sold and consumed (384,431) (402,136)
External supplies and services (257,541) (228,938)
Payroll expenses (102,500) (107,995)
Depreciation and amortization 27 (144,205) (144,261)
Provisions (876) (1,114)
Taxes and other operating costs (15,861) (13,910)

(905,414) (898,354)

Profit from operations 110,969 191,666

Financial expenses, net 44 (44,346) (57,257)

Profit before extraordinary expenses 66,623 134,409

Extraordinary expenses, net 45 3,519 (723)

Profit before provision for income tax and minority interests 70,142 133,686

Provision for income tax 38 (3,302) (46,149)

Profit before minority interests 66,840 87,537

Minority interests - 1,949

Net profit for the year 66,840 89,486

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME BY FUNCTIONS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003
(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)

Notes 2003 2002

Sales and services rendered 1,000,618 1,085,604 
Cost of sales and services rendered 59 (749,682) (746,557)

GROSS PROFIT 250,936 339,047 

Other operational income 15,682 6,784 
Distribution costs (75,315) (69,054)
Administration costs (59,057) (63,528)
Other operational costs (13,337) (19,673)

OPERATING INCOME 59 118,909 193,576 

Net finance expenses (41,934) (58,140)
Profit/(loss) in affiliated and associated companies 1,122 741 
Profit/(loss) in other investments 185 112 
Non-usual profit/(loss) (4,108) 646 

CURRENT INCOME 59 74,174 136,935 

Income tax before extraordinary items (4,164) (47,156)

CURRENT RESULTS AFTER INCOME TAX 70,010 89,779 

Net extraordinary expenses 59 (4,032) (3,249)
Tax on extraordinary items 862 1,007 

NET PROFIT 66,840 87,537 

Minority interests - 1.949 

NET PROFIT AFTER MINORITY INTERESTS 66,840 89,486 

EARNINGS PER SHARE (euros)* 0.087 0.117 

* The number of shares used in the earnings per share calculation for 2003 and 2002 amounted to 767,500,000 and corresponded to the average number of
shares in circulation during the course of each year.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003
(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)

Notes 2003 2002

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Received from customers 1,009,506 1,106,320 
Payments to suppliers (589,888) (638,867)
Payments to employees (105,090) (100,436)

Operational cash-flow 314,528 367,017 

Payments relating to income taxes  (35,700) (26,463)
Other (payments)/receipts relating to operating activities (24,338) (10,471)

Cash-flows before extraordinary items 254,490 330,083 

Receipts relating to extraordinary items 1,365 3,214 
Payments relating to extraordinary items (4,201) (1,597)

Cash-flows from operating activities (1) 251,654 331,700 

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES 
Receipts relating to:

Financial investments - 1,796 
Tangible fixed assets 6,482 3,209 
Subsidies to investment - 197 
Interest and similar income 25,194 15,645 
Dividends 1,063 919

32,739 21,766 
Payments relating to:

Financial investments - (231,590)
Tangible fixed assets (127,566) (77,393)

(127,566) (308,983)
Cash-flows from investing activities (2) (94,827) (287,217)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Receipts relating to:

Borrowings 27,009 1,142,677 
Increase of share capital - -

27,009 1,142,677 
Payments relating to:

Borrowings (30,180) (933,935)
Leasing contracts (346) (640)
Interest and similar expenses (64,630) (67,112)
Dividends 51 (24,175) (23,025)

(119,331) (1,024,712)
Cash-flows from financing activities (3) (92,322) 117,965

CHANGES IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (1)+(2)+(3) 64,505 162,448

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 281,942 119,494

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 58 346,447 281,942 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Financial Statements.



(Free translation from the original in Portuguese)

INTRODUCTION

Portucel - Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. (hereafter referred to as the Company or Portucel S.A.) is a public company formed on

May 31, 1993, in accordance with Decree-Law no. 39/93, February 13, following the restructuring of Portucel - Empresa de Celulose e Papel de

Portugal, S.A. and which also led to the formation of Portucel - Empresa de Celulose e Papel de Portugal, SGPS, S.A. (hereafter referred to as

Portucel SGPS). The main business of the Company and of its subsidiaries (hereafter referred to as the Portucel Soporcel Group, or the Group, listed

in Notes 1 and 2), is the production and sale of cellulose pulp, paper and derivatives, the purchase of wood and forest and agricultural products,

the cutting of timber and its transportation to pulp mills, and the production and sale of electric and thermal energy. Portucel S.A. owns 100% of

the share capital of Soporcel - Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A. (hereafter referred to as Soporcel), which operates in the same business sector.

Portucel S.A. is a public company, and the Portuguese government is its major shareholder through Portucel SGPS.  The second phase of the

reprivatization process of the Company is currently on going (see Note 62).

The financial statements for the year ending on December 31, 2003, are prepared in accordance with the Portuguese Official Plan of Accounts

(POC) in all material respects, with the exception mentioned in Note 23 h).

The following notes are numbered sequentially as prescribed by the Portuguese Official Plan of Accounts (POC) for the presentation of

consolidated financial statements. Those numerical references that are omitted from the notes are either not applicable to the Portucel Soporcel

Group, or are not material for an understanding of the attached consolidated statements. 

EXPLANATORY NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED ON DECEMBER 31, 2003
(Amounts expressed in thousands of euros)
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Percentage of Full
capital held Consolidation

Company Head Office Directly Indirectly 2003 2002

Production of cellulose pulp and paper

Portucel - Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. Setúbal Parent Company √ √

Soporcel - Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A. Figueira da Foz 100% - √ √

Trade of cellulose pulp and paper

Tecnipapel - Sociedade de Transformação e Distribuição de Papel, Lda Setúbal 100% - √ √

Portucel (UK), Ltd United Kingdom 100% - √ √

Portucel Pasta y Papel, S.A. Spain 100% - √ √

Soporcel España, S.A. Spain - 100% √ √

Soporcel International, BV Holland - 100% √ √

Soporcel France, EURL France - 100% √ √

Soporcel United Kingdom, Ltd United Kingdom - 100% √ √

Soporcel Italia, SRL Italy - 100% √ √

Soporcel 2000 - Serviços Comerciais de Papel, Soc. Unipessoal, Lda Figueira da Foz - 100% √ √

Soporcel North America Inc. USA - 100% √ √

Soporcel Deutschland, GmbH Germany - 100% √ √

Soporcel Handels, GmbH Austria - 100% √ √

Woodlands and agriculture

Portucel Florestal - Empresa de Desenvolvimento Agro-Florestal, S.A. Lisbon 81.6% 18.4% √ √

Celpinus - Empresa de Desenvolvimento Agro-Florestal, S.A. Lisbon - - - √

Lazer e Floresta - Empresa de Desenvolvimento Agro-Florestal 

Imobiliário e Turístico, S.A. Lisbon - - - √

Aliança Florestal - Sociedade para o Desenvolvimento Agro-Florestal, S.A. Lisbon 50% 50% √ √

Arboser - Serviços Agro-Industriais, S.A. Setúbal 50% 50% √ √

Emporsil - Empresa Portuguesa de Silvicultura, Lda Lisbon - 100% √ √

Sociedade de Vinhos da Herdade de Espirra - Produção e

Comercialização de Vinhos, S.A. Lisbon - 100% √ √

Viveiros Aliança - Empresa Produtora de Plantas, S.A. Lisbon - 100% √ √

Aflomec - Empresa de Exploração Florestal, S.A. Lisbon - 100% √ √

Cofotrans - Empresa de Exploração Florestal, S.A. Figueira da Foz - 100% √ -

Energy production

SPCG - Sociedade Portuguesa de Co-Geração Eléctrica, S.A. Setúbal 100% - √ √

Enerpulp - Cogeração Energética de Pasta, S.A. Lisbon 100% - √ √

Others

Setipel - Serviços Técnicos para a Indústria Papeleira, S.A. Lisbon 100% - √ √

Empremédia - Corretores de Seguros, Lda Lisbon - 100% √ √

Socortel - Sociedade de Corte de Papel, S.A. Figueira da Foz 50% 50% √ √

PortucelSoporcel Papel - Sales e Marketing, ACE Figueira da Foz 50% 50% √ -

MICEP - Manutenção Industrial de Celulose e Papel, ACE Setúbal - 50% √ -

Cutpaper - Transformação, Corte e Embalagem de Papel, ACE Figueira da Foz - 50% √ -

NOTE 1 - CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES

The companies included in the consolidation as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 were as follows:

 



The above-mentioned companies were fully consolidated in accordance with paragraph a) of no.1 of article 1 of Decree-Law no. 238/91,

July 2, except for MICEP - Manutenção Industrial de Celulose e Papel, ACE (MICEP) and Cutpaper - Transformação, Corte e Embalagem de Papel,

ACE (Cutpaper), both of which were consolidated through the consolidated method.

On December 31, 2003, Celpinus and Lazer e Floresta were not consolidated because of the sale of their share capital that was held by

Portucel S.A.. Cofotrans - Empresa de Exploração Florestal, S.A. was included in the consolidation as consequence of its incorporation in 2003. 

In 2001 and in cooperation with another company, Setipel set up MICEP - Manutenção Industrial de Celulose e Papel, ACE (ACE is the

designation for a complementary group of companies - "Agrupamento Complementar de Empresas"). The objective of this ACE is to acquire the

necessary services to render maintenance services to Portucel S.A. and Soporcel industrial units. In 2002, two other ACE’s were formed:

PortucelSoporcel Papel - Sales e Marketing, ACE was formed by Portucel S.A. and Soporcel, with the objective of merging the commercial

functions of the paper industry activity of both companies; and Cutpaper - Transformação, Corte e Embalagem de Papel, ACE was formed by

Socortel and another company, with the objective of developing cutting, packaging, storage and paper transport activities for the Soporcel

industrial unit. Due to their immateriality, the Group’s share in the assets, liabilities, gains and expenses of these companies were only included

in the financial statements in 2003.

NOTE 2 - COMPANIES EXCLUDED FROM CONSOLIDATION

Those companies that were not fully consolidated or consolidated through the proportional method along with, their Head office and the

proportion of equity held as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, were as follows:

The companies above were not fully consolidated because they are not considered materially relevant for the presentation of a true and fair

view of the financial situation of the Group and the results of its operations (No. 1 of Article 4 of Decree-Law No. 238/91, July 2). These

participations are recorded under the investment in affiliated companies heading, and are valued by the equity method. 

Equity

Percentage of capital held Method

Company Head Office Directly Indirectly Total 2003 2002

Portucel International Trading, S.A. Luxemburg 80% - 80% √ √

Sacocel - Sociedade Produtora de

Embalagens e Sacos de Papel, Lda Lisbon 100% - 100% √ √

Portucel Brasil Brazil 99% - 99% √ √
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NOTE 7 - AVERAGE NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

During 2003 and 2002, the average number of employees by the Portucel Soporcel Group was as follows:

NOTE 10 - CONSOLIDATION DIFFERENCES

Following the acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Soporcel - Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A., for Eur 1,154,842 thousand, the

consolidation differences correspond to the difference between the acquisition cost of the share capital of Soporcel and its equity as of January

1, 2001 (the date of the first consolidation), following an adjustment for the fair value of some of the Soporcel assets. The consolidation

differences are being depreciated over a period of 25 years, which was determined to be a fair estimate considering the remaining useful life of

the Company’s main equipment. On December 31, 2003, the consolidation differences correspond to the amount of Eur 376,756 thousand

(December 31, 2002: Eur 393,881 thousand), net of the accumulated depreciation in the amount of Eur 51,376 thousand.

In 2003 under the reorganization of the forest business by the Group, an exchange of investments with Portucel SGPS took place, resulting

in the sale of the share capital of Celpinus and Lazer e Floresta and the acquisition of the share capital of Portucel Florestal that was not already

owned by the Group (40%), totalling Eur 69,384 thousand. In the acquisition of the share capital of Portucel Florestal, the consolidation differences

were Eur 3,020 thousand. The amounts of the operation were based on evaluations performed by an independent entity. The consolidation

differences are being depreciated over a period of ten years which was determined to be the estimated period for recovering the investment.

On December 31, 2003, the consolidation difference net to Eur 2,718 thousand, after deducting depreciation of Eur 302 thousand.

As mentioned above, during the reorganization of the forest business, financial investments in Celpinus and Lazer e Floresta were sold and

several fixed assets and inventories of the forest business that were considered as non-strategic for the Portucel Soporcel Group were transferred

to these entities from Portucel Florestal and Soporcel. A net profit of Eur 7,858 thousand resulted from this operation, which resulted from a loss

of Eur 1,107 thousand from the selling of the financial investments and from a profit of Eur  8,965 thousand from asset and inventory transfers.

Company 2003 2002

Portucel 1,156 1,150

Soporcel and its subsidiaries 903 981

Aliança Florestal 87 95

Arboser 56 49

Portucel Florestal 19 41

SPCG 16 17

Aflomec 12 13

Viveiros Aliança 7 8

Portucel (UK) 5 5

Portucel Pasta y Papel 4 4

Socortel 3 3

Lazer e Floresta - 2

Sociedade de Vinhos da Herdade de Espirra 2 1

2,270 2,369



NOTE 15 - CONSISTENCY IN THE APPLICATION OF VALUATION CRITERIA 

The main valuation criteria followed by Group companies included in the consolidation, as described in Note 23, are consistent.

NOTE 21 - FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS

a)   Retirement and survivors’ pension supplements

Presently, several retirement and survivors’ pension supplements co-exist among the consolidated companies

(i) In accordance with the prevailing Regulation of Social Benefits, those employees on the Portucel S.A. and subsidiaries permanent staff

(excluding Soporcel and subsidiaries), with more than five years seniority are entitled upon retirement or disability to a monthly

retirement or disability pension supplement ("the Portucel Plan"). This supplement is determined according to a formula that takes

into account the employee’s gross monthly remuneration, updated for the employee’s occupational category on retirement date, and

the number of years of service, up to 30. Survivors’ pensions are also guaranteed to the employee’s spouse and progeny.

To cover this liability, the independent Portucel Pension Fund was formed, under the management of an external entity.

(ii) Soporcel and its subsidiaries’ employees are entitled upon retirement or disability to a monthly supplementary retirement or

disability pension. A survivor’s pension is also guaranteed ("the Soporcel Plan"). 

To cover this liability, an externally managed pension fund was set up, and the fund’s assets are apportioned between each of the

companies.

The actuarial studies carried out by an independent entity, as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, for the purpose of determining the

accumulated liabilities on those dates, were based on the following assumptions:

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

Portucel Soporcel Portucel Soporcel

Plan Plan Plan Plan

Mortality table TV 73/77 TV 73/77 TV 73/77 TV 73/77

Disability table EKV-80-Suíça EKV-80-Suíça EKV-80-Suíça EKV-80-Suíça

Discount rates 6% 4% 6% 4%

Growth rate of salaries 3% 4% 3% 4%

Growth rate of pensions 2% 2% 2% 2%

Rate of return 6% 6% 6% 6%   
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On December 31, 2003, the companies’ coverage of their liabilities by the fund assets was as follows:

As mentioned in Note 23 h), the consolidated companies adopt the criteria set forth in Accounting Directive no. 19 as its accounting policy

for the recognition of its liabilities with respect to these supplements.

Additionally, the Group adopts the "corridor" concept as prescribed by the International Accounting Standard no. 19, under which the actuarial

gains and losses should only be recognised as income or expenses if the net cumulative unrecognised actuarial gains and losses in the beginning

of the period exceeded the greater of (i) 10% of the fair value of the plan assets at that date, and (ii) 10% of the present value of the defined

benefit obligation at that date. When the net cumulative unrecognised actuarial gains and losses exceed the above limits, the excess at the

beginning of the period should be registered as income or expense over the expected average remaining working lives of the employees

participating in the plan.

Accordingly, in 2003, the following amounts were recorded (i) Eur 2,994 thousand as a debit under the deferred costs heading, (ii) Eur 3,354

thousand as a credit under the accrued costs heading, with reference to the variation in the excess coverage provided by the Pension Fund in

light of past services liabilities, (iii) Eur 3,650 thousand as a credit under the bank deposits heading for the contribution made in the year to the

Fund, and (iv) Eur 4,010 thousand as a debit under the payroll expenses heading.

The amount recorded as a debit under the payroll expenses heading is made up as follows:

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

Portucel Soporcel Portucel Soporcel

Plan Plan Plan Plan

Liabilities for past service

Active employees and pre-retirement 30,798 39,917 29,365 33,894 

Retired employees 5,719 14,518 5,226 12,067 

(A) 36,517 54,435 34,591 45,961 

Total value of the fund attributable to the consolidated companies (B) 32,593 43,424 31,272 37,699 

Surplus/(shortfall) of coverage (3,924) (11,011) (3,319) (8,262)

Cumulative unrecognised actuarial gains and losses

("corridor") (142) 7,345 1,313 2,896 

Surplus/(shortfall) of coverage (Note 57) (4,066) (3,666) (2,006) (5,366)

Coverage rate (B)/(A) 89% 80% 90% 82%

DR/(CR)

Portucel Soporcel

Plan Plan Total

Cost of current services 1,828 2,572 4,400 

Financial expenses 2,163 2,686 4,849 

Return on plan assets (1,996) (3,083) (5,079)

Transfers and adjustments 202 (362) (160)

2,197 1,813 4,010



b) Purchasing commitments

As of December 30, 2003 and 2002, entities included in the consolidation had assumed commitments to suppliers in the amount of

Eur 91,911 thousand and Eur 36,000 thousand, respectively, for the purchase of plant, property, and equipment.

c) Derivative Instruments

During 2003 and with the objective of managing the interest rate risk associated with the medium and long term liabilities (see Note 50),

the Group contracted with two financial institutions (i) one swap/cap, with a nominal value of Eur 150,000 thousand and a maturity date of

August 1, 2007 and (ii) one swap, with a nominal value of Eur 50,000 thousand and a maturity date of December 27, 2004. As of December

31, 2003, the fair value of this contract shows an unfavourable trend, primarily due to the decline in interest rates.

With the purpose of managing the foreign exchange risk of customer receivables, the Group contracted forwards with a nominal value of

Eur 1,721 thousand corresponding to USD 2,071 thousand and Eur 8,352 thousand corresponding to GBP 5,812 thousand.  The currency forwards

have maturity dates in the first half of 2004. 

NOTE 22 - GUARANTEES

As of December 31, 2003, the Group had assumed liabilities under bank guarantees extended in the amount of Eur 4,385 thousand (2002:

Eur 4,504 thousand). These guarantees were mainly rendered in favour of entities related to the investment subsidies and to the loans obtained

by Soporgen, a company in which the Group holds 8%, in the scope of which, Soporcel rendered a guarantee in the amount of Eur 2,000

thousand.

NOTE 23 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND MAIN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND VALUATION CRITERIA

Basis of presentation

The attached consolidated financial statements were prepared on the going concern basis, from the accounting books and records of the

companies identified in Note 1, which were maintained in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Portugal. The following

consolidation procedures were carried out.

Consolidation procedures

The consolidation of those companies referred to in Note 1, was made through the global integration method, with the exception of MICEP

and Cutpaper made through the proportional consolidation method. Significant inter-company transactions and balances were eliminated in the

consolidation process. Third parties’ interests in the subsidiaries are shown in the balance sheet under the Minority interests heading.
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Financial investments representing equity holdings in associated companies were valued in the consolidated balance sheet through the

equity method.

Financial investments representing equity holdings of less than 20% in invested companies were valued at the lower of cost and estimated

value on realisation. Dividends distributed are recognised as income in the period the decision to distribute dividends is taken.

Main valuation criteria

The main valuation criteria employed in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements were as follows:

a) Intangibles assets

Intangibles consist primarily of expenses associated with studies, research projects and other projects considered important for the

development of future activities. These expenses, excluding those in progress and consolidated differences (see Note 10), are amortized under

the straight-line method over periods ranging between three and five years.

Due to its small amount, the consolidation difference determined in the acquisition of Papéis Inapa, S.A. and subsidiaries was, following the

merger in 2000, recorded in the Company equity.

Furthermore, included in the Industrial property and other rights heading are expenses related to the co-participation in a railway located

next to the Soporcel plant in Figueira da Foz, and which will be used in more favourable conditions in a 10-year period.  Therefore, these expenses

are amortized under the straight-line method over that period.

b) Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are recorded at cost, and revalued in accordance with Portuguese law. The acquisition cost of the property, plant and

equipment transferred on May 31, 1993 (date of the Company’s formation and that of Portucel Florestal - see Introduction) was determined on

the basis of a valuation carried out by a specialist firm.

As mentioned in Note 10, as part of the acquisition process of Soporcel, selected fixed assets were revaluated at fair value as of January 1,

2001, on the basis of a valuation carried out by a specialist firm.

Assets are depreciated under the straight-line method from their date of entry into service or the beginning of the assets use, at rates

permitted by prevailing tax legislation and that would allow the assets to be fully written-off by the end of their estimated useful lives.



Depreciation rates employed correspond to the following average estimated useful lives:

Repair and maintenance expenses are recorded in the income statement during the period in which they are incurred. The costs associated

with routine repairs at the plants, which are carried out at pre-determined intervals of some eighteen months, are recorded in the income

statement in monthly instalments throughout that period.

Repairs that enhance the economic usefulness of fixed assets are themselves recorded as fixed assets and are depreciated over the

remaining useful life of the repaired assets.

c) Financial lease contracts

Assets acquired under financial lease are recorded among assets in accordance with Accounting Directive no. 25, issued by the Accounting

Standards Committee (Comissão de Normalização Contabilística). Accordingly, the value of the asset is recorded under the tangible fixed assets

heading and is depreciated according to its expected useful life, and the liability to third parties for the principal sum of the outstanding lease

instalments is shown under liabilities.

d) Inventories

Woodlands

Woodlands are classified under the work-in-progress heading, mainly at long term, and exclude land that is classified under tangible fixed

assets. Woodlands transferred on May 31, 1993, (date of formation of Portucel Florestal - see Introduction) are recorded at cost and revaluated

in accordance with a valuation carried out by a valuation specialist, less the amount representing wood logged. The cost of woodlands purchased,

or planted after that date, and the woodland development, conservation and maintenance expenses incurred are included in their respective

values. The cost of wood is transferred to production cost when the wood is logged. Logs are valued at the specific cost of each woodland property

attributed to each logging, which includes all costs incurred in each woodland property from the time it was logged before.

Average years

of useful life

Natural resources 14

Buildings and other constructions 12 - 30

Machinery and equipment 6 - 25

Transportation equipment 5 - 9

Tools and utensils 2 - 8

Office equipment 4 - 8

Returnable containers 6

Other tangible fixed assets 4 - 10
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Other raw materials, consumables, and merchandise

Other raw materials, consumables and merchandise are valued at their average purchase cost, which includes the invoice price and all

expenses up to their entry into warehouse, which is less than their respective market value. Inventory withdrawn or consumed is valued at

average cost.  

Finished, intermediate and other products and work-in-process

Finished and intermediate products, and products and work-in-process, other than woodlands, are valued at the accumulated average

monthly cost of production, which includes the cost of incorporated raw materials, direct labour, and general factory expenses. Inventory

withdrawn or consumed is valued at average cost.

e) Provision for inventory depreciation and provision for doubtful accounts receivable

When the estimated realisable value is lower than the purchase cost of raw material and merchandise and the production cost of finished

and intermediate products, a provision is made for the difference.

The provision for doubtful receivables is calculated on the basis of anticipated collection risks at the end of each period.

f) Marketable securities

Marketable securities are recorded at the lower of cost or expected value on realization. Interest is recognized as income during the period

in which it is earned and dividends distributed are recognised as income in the period the decision to distribute dividends is taken.

g) Accruals

Group companies record their revenues and expenses in accordance with the accrual concept, whereby revenues and expenses are

recognized when they are generated, regardless of the time at which they are received or paid. Differences between amounts received and paid,

and the corresponding receipts and expenses generated are recorded under the accruals and deferrals headings.

h) Retirement and survivors’ pension supplements

All Group companies included in the consolidation have adopted as their accounting policy for the recognition of their liabilities for those

supplements the criteria set forth in Accounting Directive no. 19, issued by the Accounting Standards Committee (Comissão de Normalização

Contabilística). Additionally, the Group adopts the "corridor" concept as prescribed by the International Accounting Standard No. 19 (see Note 21

a)). If the Company had applied the methodology of recognizing immediately in the statement of income the actuarial gain or loss in the period

that was generated, the net profit after tax would be reduced by Eur 2,170 thousand and retained earnings by Eur 3,052 thousand.



i) Pre-retirement charges

The Company and Portucel Florestal have assumed liability for the payment of pre-retirement pensions under the terms of the agreements

entered into with various employees, up to the time of their eligibility for Social Security. These monthly payments correspond to a portion of

the employee’s salary on his pre-retirement date. The present value of liabilities for future pre-retirement payments is determined on an actuarial

basis and is recorded as a cost of the period in which the pre-retirement agreement was signed. At the end of each year, the actuarial calculation

of liabilities is up-dated and the balance under the accrued expenses heading is adjusted through the statement of income for the period.

j) Indemnities for mutually agreed termination of employment contracts

Charges associated with mutually agreed termination of employment contracts are recorded as extraordinary expenses for the period in

which the respective agreements are entered into.

k) Subsidies granted to finance the purchase of tangible fixed assets

Subsidies received to finance tangible fixed assets are recorded in the balance sheet under the deferred income heading, for subsequent

recognition in the statement of income of each period, in proportion to the depreciation of the subsidised assets. That portion of the subsidy that

is recognized as income, together with the respective depreciation, is included in extraordinary income for the period.

l) Operating subsidies

A tax incentive was granted to the subsidiary Soporcel, which results in a reduction of the income tax expense for the years from 1998 to

2007 regarding of certain amounts determined and allocated to each year in accordance with the financial effort associated with eligible

investments in tangible assets (see Note 38).

The subsidies granted as tax incentives for a pre-determined period are recorded in the statement of income in the period in which the tax

charge is reduced.

m) Subsidies granted to woodland exploration

Subsidies received to finance the reforestation and to improve the woodland in production are recorded in the balance sheet under the

deferred income heading, for subsequent recognition in the statement of income during a period of 10 and 5 years, respectively.
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n)    Foreign currency operations

Foreign currency transactions are translated to euros at the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction date. Exchange differences realised

during the period, as well as potential differences identified on the balance sheet date, based on rates prevailing at that date, are recorded as

profit or loss in the consolidated statement of income for the period. 

o) Income tax

The income tax charge is determined in accordance with the Portuguese Corporate Tax Code (Código do Imposto sobre o Rendimento das

Pessoas Colectivas (IRC)). The Group records deferred taxes in accordance with the Accounting Directive no. 28 (see Note 38).

p) Financial instruments

Financial instruments are used by the Group to manage the interest rate and currency risks inherent to its activities, (see Note 21 c)).  Profits

and losses realised on these financial instruments are recorded in the income statement as they occur, in accordance with the applicable criteria

to the covered items, following the accrual concept.

q) Liabilities and environmental expenses

Liabilities and expenses related to environment are recognized in accordance with the criteria set forth in Accounting Directive no. 29, issued

by the Accounting Standards Committee (Comissão de Normalização Contabilística) ( See Note 60).



NOTE 27 - CHANGES IN FIXED ASSETS

The changes in the intangible and tangible fixed assets and financial investments, as well as respective depreciation and amortization in the

year ending on December 31, 2003, were as follows:

Assets

Opening Transfers and Closing

balance  Additions Disposals adjustments balance

Intangible assets:

Formation expenses 39,636 - (20) 373 39,989 

Research and development expenses 41,820 318 - 2,918 45,056 

Industrial property and other rights 2,103 - - 7 2,110 

Consolidation differences 428,132 3,020 - - 431,152 

Intangibles assets in progress 7,142 6,659 - (3,651) 10,150 

518,833 9,997 (20) (353) 528,457 

Tangible fixed assets:

Land and natural resources 133,823 12 (34,518) 151 99,468 

Buildings and other construction 361,977 440 (347) 2,702 364,772 

Machinery and equipment 2,128,072 5,837 (5,112) 34,258 2,163,055 

Transportation equipment 34,315 700 (2,310) 830 33,535 

Tools and utensils 3,686 61 (2) 71 3,816 

Office equipment 30,675 1,054 (150) 2,139 33,718 

Returnable containers 357 2 - - 359 

Other tangible fixed assets 11,181 445 (757) 279 11,148 

Construction in progress 55,310 110,211 - (41,057) 124,464 

Advances to  suppliers of tangible fixed assets 10,848 32,602 (122) (1,380) 41,948 

2,770,244 151,364 (43,318) (2,007) 2,876,283 

Financial investments:

Investments in affiliated companies 571 66 - - 637 

Loans to affiliated companies 92 - - - 92 

Investments in associated companies 11 - - - 11 

Loans to associated companies - - - - -

Securities and other financial investments 26,904 - - - 26,904 

Other granted loans 25 - - - 25 

27,603 66 - - 27,669 

3,316,680 161,427 (43,338) (2,360) 3,432,409 
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Depreciation and amortization for the year totalled Eur 147,092 thousand. Of this amount Eur 2,887 thousand were reclassified under the

extraordinary expenses heading, from which Eur 2,171 thousand in accordance with the criterion mentioned in Note 23 k) (see Note 45).

a) As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the breakdown of equity holdings in the Group and the main financial information concerning these

companies were as follows:

Accumulated depreciation and amortization

Opening Closing

balance Additions Adjustments balance

Intangible assets

Formation expenses 34,992 3,828 (11) 38,809

Research and development expenses 31,202 6,280 (5) 37,477

Industrial property and other rights 1,901 197 - 2,098

Consolidation differences 34,251 17,427 - 51,678

102,346 27,732 (16) 130,062

Tangible fixed assets

Land and natural resources 127 33 - 160

Buildings and other constructions 154,268 17,305 (72) 171,501

Machinery and equipment 1,281,686 94,147 (4,887) 1,370,946

Transportation equipment 19,598 2,942 (2,168) 20,372

Tools and utensils 3,177 254 (2) 3,429

Office equipment 24,396 3,218 (140) 27,474

Returnable containers 102 82 - 184

Other tangible fixed assets 7,987 1,379 (70) 9,296

1,491,341 119,360 (7,339) 1,603,362

1,593,687 147,092 (7,355) 1,733,424

Portion of Book Value

Total Net % appropriated 2003 2002

Company Head office assets Equity profit held net profit Fin. Inv. Provi. Fin. Inv. Provi.

Affiliated companies

Portucel International Trading, S.A. (a) Luxemburg 1,405 455 (13) 80.00% - 364 - 364 -

Sacocel - Sociedade Produtora de

Embalagens e Sacos de Papel, Lda (b) Lisbon 1,271 266 (67) 100.00% 59 266 - 207 -

Portucel Brasil (a) Brazil 810 (74) 231 99.00% - - (74) - (74)

Other - - - - - - 7 - - -

59 637 (74) 571 (74)

Associated companies

TASC - Tecnologia de Automação

Sistemas e Controlo, Lda Setúbal - - - - - 11 - 11 -

- 11 - 11 -

(a) Financial statements as of December 31, 2001 (not approved)

(b) Appropriation of 2001 to 2003 net profit



b) As of December 31, 2003, the loan extended to affiliated companies is that to Sacocel - Sociedade Produtora de Embalagens e Sacos de

Papel, Lda in the amount of Eur 92 thousand (2002: Eur 92 thousand). This loan does not bear interest and has no fixed maturity.

c) The heading securities and other financial investments includes mainly (i) Eur 3,282 thousand, representing the Group’s 94% participation

in the formation of RAIZ - Instituto de Investigação da Floresta e Papel, a non-profit organization (ii) Eur 22,201 thousand, corresponding to

the purchase cost of 8% of ENCE - Empresa Nacional de Celulose, S.A. equity, a Spanish producer of cellulose pulp, which as of December

31, 2003, corresponds to 2,037,600 shares and (iii) Eur 1,338 thousand corresponding to a participation of 1.27% in the equity of Expresso

Paper Platform B.V., a company created on May 25, 2001 with the main objective of providing and promoting all necessary means to allow

automatic transactions between the paper industry agents, including producers, distributors and final customers .

d) As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, tangible fixed assets and tangible fixed assets in progress by area of activity (including advances to

suppliers of tangible fixed assets) were as follows:

NOTE 36 - SEGMENT BUSINESS INFORMATION

The Portucel Soporcel Group is organized in three areas: cellulose pulp production, printing paper production, and wood and forest production.

These three areas form the basis of the Company’s main segment business information.

Cellulose pulp is produced in three plants located in Setúbal, Cacia and Figueira da Foz, and paper is produced in Setúbal and Figueira da Foz

in plants near the cellulose pulp plants. Internal production of wood and forest resources is carried out on woodlands owned and rented in

Portugal. This wood is essentially used in cellulose pulp production. In the production of paper, a significant portion of the cellulose pulp that the

Group produces is consumed. Sales for both products (pulp and paper) are mainly for the external market.

2003 2002

Pulp production 1,717,136 1,614,267 

Paper production 1,019,481 984,409 

Woodland production 70,556 105,206 

Ancillary and joint activities 69,110 66,362 

2,876,283 2,770,244
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Financial information for 2003 regarding business segments is as follows:

2003

Wood and Forest Pulp Paper Other Eliminations Total

REVENUES

Sales and services rendered - External 3,384 234,433 749,450 13,351 - 1,000,618 

Sales and services rendered - Intersegmental 17,168 212,142 - - (229,310) -

Total revenues 20,552 446,575 749,450 13,351 (229,310) 1,000,618 

PROFIT/(LOSS)

Segmental income (489) 24,699 108,628 - (828) 132,010 

Costs not attributed - - - (13,101) - (13,101)

Operational net income/(loss) * (489) 24,699 108,628 (13,101) (828) 118,909 

Financial costs (1,403) (12,757) (49,892) - - (64,052)

Financial income - 4,317 17,986 - - 22,303 

Loss in affiliated companies - 1,063 59 - - 1,122 

Other income (4,108) - - - - (4,108)

Income tax 998 (2,657) (15,114) 12,609 - (4,164)

Income in segmental activities (5,002) 14,665 61,667 (492) (828) 70,010 

Extraordinary income/(loss) * (1,252) (1,387) (706) (687) - (4,032)

Income tax - 454 182 226 - 862 

Net Profit (6,254) 13,732 61,143 (953) (828) 66,840 

Minority interests - - - - - - 

Group Net profit (6,254) 13,732 61,143 (953) (828) 66,840 

OTHER INFORMATION

Segment assets 319,329 807,897 1,093,407 118,090 - 2,338,723 

Financial investments 2,960 22,446 2,263 - - 27,669 

Assets not attributed - 4,180 2,814 348,115 - 355,109 

Total consolidated assets 322,289 834,523 1,098,484 466,205 - 2,721,501 

Segment liabilities 32,311 445,913 1,036,897 28,097 - 1,543,218 

Liabilities not attributed - - - 75,410 - 75,410 

Total consolidated liabilities 32,311 445,913 1,036,897 103,507 - 1,618,628 

Capital expense 763 110,930 41,006 1,479 - 154,178 

Depreciations (2,369) (66,714) (71,825) (3,297) - (144,205)

* As stated in the consolidated statement of income by functions (see Note 59)



Financial information for 2002 regarding business segments is as follows:

2002

Wood and Forest Pulp Paper Other Eliminations Total

REVENUES

Sales and services rendered - External 2,740 270,615 793,322 18,927 - 1,085,604 

Sales and services rendered - Intersegmental 38,234 176,967 - 27,468 (242,669) -

Total revenues 40,974 447,582 793,322 46,395 (242,669) 1,085,604 

PROFIT/(LOSS)

Segmental income (4,838) 73,236 145,878 9,388 - 223,664

Costs not attributed - - - (30,088) - (30,088)

Operational net income/(loss) (4,838) 73,236 145,878 (20,700) - 193,576 

Financial costs (1,460) (26,958) (44,339) (449) - (73,206)

Financial income - 3,311 11,755 - - 15,066 

Income/(loss) in affiliated companies - - 741 - - 741 

Other income/(loss) 758 - - - - 758 

Income tax 1,291 12 (50,269) 2,817 - (46,149)

Income in segmental activities (4,249) 49,601 63,766 (18,332) - 90,786 

Extraordinary income/(loss) (1,782) (87) (332) (1,048) - (3,249)

Net Profit (6,031) 49,514 63,434 (19,380) - 87,537 

Minority interests 1,949 - - - - 1,949 

Group Net profit (4,082) 49,514 63,434 (19,380) - 89,486 

OTHER INFORMATION

Segment assets 416,994 841,585 1,035,555 126,078 - 2,420,212 

Financial investments 3,282 22,202 2,119 - - 27,603 

Assets not attributed - - - 281,942 - 281,942 

Total consolidated assets 2,729,757 

Segment liabilities 43,292 666,587 702,611 174,602 - 1,587,092 

Liabilities not attributed - - - 5,456 - 5,456 

Total consolidated liabilities 1,592,548 

Capital expense 2,055 23,700 40,458 904 - 67,117 

Depreciations (1,572) (42,714) (95,957) (4,018) - (144,261)
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For the period ended on December 31, 2003 and 2002, sales and services rendered by market, were as follows:

NOTE 38 - TAXES 

Since January 1, 2003, the companies included in the consolidation are taxed as a group of companies, in accordance with prevailing

legislation.  However, each one of the companies calculates and registers its own corporation tax (IRC) liability. In accordance with prevailing

legislation, these companies’ tax returns are subject to review and adjustment by the tax authorities for a period of four years. However, should

tax losses be declared, these could be subject to the tax authorities’ review for a period of up to ten years. The Company’s Board of Directors

believes that any adjustments arising from the tax authorities’ reviews and or inspections of those tax returns are unlikely to have a material

effect on the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2003 and 2002.

The income tax charge for 2003, in the amount of Eur 3,302 thousand (2002: Eur 46,149 thousand), is reduced by the effect of the deferred

tax charge generated by timing differences referred to below, in the amount of Eur 12,038 thousand, recorded as a credit in the income

statement. (2002: Eur 903 thousand, creditor) (see Note 23 o)).

Pulp Paper Total

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Sales and services rendered:

Germany 65,852 72,655 98,024 104,714 163,876 177,369 

Spain 35,672 44,962 93,712 113,354 129,384 158,316 

France 21,981 32,068 106,558 122,582 128,539 154,650 

United Kingdom 16,380 20,325 76,070 88,714 92,450 109,039 

Italy 23,123 18,712 112,540 88,723 135,663 107,435 

Portugal 29,013 11,450 44,715 76,523 73,728 87,973 

Holland 14,978 22,619 36,887 32,130 51,865 54,749 

Other 27,434 47,824 180,944 166,582 208,378 214,406 

234,433 270,615 749,450 793,322 983,883 1,063,937 



Furthermore, the income tax for the year was (i) reduced by a tax credit in the amount of Eur 2,912 thousand (2002: Eur 2,921 thousand),

equivalent to the tax incentive for 2003 granted by the Portuguese government to Soporcel within the scope of the project for the construction

of the second paper plant (see Note 23 l)), and (ii) reduced by a deduction in the income tax charge in the amount of Eur 6,445 thousand

regarding the application of the tax regime for investments set forth in the Decree-Law nº 23/2004 and (iii) increased by the income tax related

with the depreciation of the consolidation differences, not accepted for fiscal purposes, in the amount of Eur 5,751 thousand. These three effects

and the income tax rate change in the calculation of the deferred tax, explain the difference between the effective and the statutory income tax

rate for the year 2003.

Tax incentive regarding the second paper plant of Soporcel

In 1998 a contract was established with the Portuguese State with reference to this tax incentive, which includes a reduction of certain

amounts of the income tax charges in the years from 1998 to 2007, determined and allocated to each year in accordance with the financial effort

on eligible investments in tangible assets.

The difference between the tax deduction taken up to 2000 and the tax deduction based on the final amount of eligible investements

amounts to Eur 2,453 thousand. This difference will be systematically adjusted in the deductions to be taken through 2007. As of December 31,

2003, the adjustment to be taken was Eur 1,115 thousand, and the unused tax deduction amounts to Eur 7,300 thousand, which was already

reduced by the amount to be adjusted.

Statement

Balance sheet of income

Deferred tax Deferred tax Tax on

assets (Note 57) liabilities (Note 57) income

DR/(CR)

Balance as of January 1, 2003 9,972 (90,105) -

Costs related with amortizations and major repairs in

Soporcel with different accounting and fiscal treatment

in the statutory and consolidated accounts (see Note 10) - (3,527) 3,527

Drawdown during the year from other provisions (380) - 380 

Group companies' tax losses deductible in future years (779) - 779 

Change in the net Pension fund coverage of past services

liabilities in the year ended December 31, 2003 99 - (99)

Increase in the depreciations for the period resulting from

revaluations not accepted for fiscal purposes - 2,710 (2,710)

Effect of the sale of Celpinus and Lazer e Floresta (1,401) 6 -

Effect of income tax rate change to 25% (664) 14,579 (13,915)

6,847 (76,337) (12,038)

Current tax 15,340

Income tax charge 3,302 
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During the first half of 2003, a tax inspection was carried out by the tax authorities, which included analysing all the aspects related to this

incentive. As a result of this tax inspection, the Tax Administration presented additional liquidations related to the years of 1998, 1999 and 2000

amounting to some Eur 2,500 thousand, Eur 8,000 thousand and Eur 1,400 thousand, respectively, including interest, related mainly with the tax

deductions regarding this tax incentive. No provision for these liquidations was recorded in the financial statements as of December 31, 2003,

as the Company’s Board of Directors believes that the conclusion of this process will be favourable to the company.

Investment tax reserve

Under the terms of the Decree-Law nº 23/2004, January 23, the income tax charge of Soporcel was deducted by a tax reserve for investment

of Eur 6,445 thousand, equivalent to 20% of the estimated tax charge. In order to comply with the Decree-Law mentioned above, Soporcel’s

Board of Directors will propose to the shareholders the constitution of a special reserve, in the amount of the deduction made, to be deliberated

at the General Assembly that is to approve the 2003 financial statements. This reserve can not be paid as dividends to the shareholders before

the end of the 5th year after its constitution, and must comply with other legal requirements.

NOTE 39 - REMUNERATION OF MEMBERS OF THE CORPORATE BODIES

Remuneration of the members of the parent company’s corporate bodies for the period ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 were as follows:

Furthermore, the Company paid Eur 663 thousand (2002: Eur 529 thousand) to Portucel SGPS regarding remuneration to Directors with

functions in both companies, recorded under the External supplies and services heading.

NOTE 41 - CRITERIA FOR REVALUATION OF TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Tangible fixed assets acquired up to December 31, 1997, by Portucel S.A., Arboser and Portucel Florestal were revalued in 1998 in accordance

with criteria laid down in Decree-Law no. 31/98, February 11, generating revaluation reserves in the amount of Eur 44,688 thousand (see Note 51).

Soporcel assets acquired up to December 31, 1996, were revalued, as and when applicable, in accordance with criteria laid down in Decree-

Laws ns. 118B/86 May 27, 111/88 April 2, 49/91 January 25, 264/92 November 24 and 31/98 February 11. Third party specialists revaluated

Soporcel’s tangible fixed assets (see Note 23 b)).

2003 2002

Board of Directors 243 220

Statutory auditor 67 45 

Environment Concerns Committee 1 3 

General Meeting 4 1 

315 269



NOTE 42 - EFFECT OF REVALUATIONS ON TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

NOTE 43 - COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Company and the other consolidated companies have made no changes to their accounting practices, so that all amounts shown are

comparable in all important aspects, with those of preceding period.

NOTE 44 - NET CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL EXPENSES 

Net financial expenses are made up as follows:

Income from equity holdings relates to dividends received for the ENCE shares held by the Company (see Note 27 c)).

Revalued

Historical book

cost Revaluation amounts

Assets revalued

Land and natural resources 18,539 2,957 21,496 

Buildings and other construction 14,342 2,745 17,087 

Machinery and equipment 100,039 13,936 113,975 

132,920 19,638 152,558 

Assets not revalued 953,951 - 953,951 

1,086,871 19,638 1,106,509

The above-mentioned amounts are net of depreciation.

Expenses 2003 2002 Income 2003 2002

Interest - Group companies (Note 55) 11,989 16,762 Interest - Group companies (Note 55) 7,486 6,662 

Other interest 31,168 40,052 Other interest 1,819 2,135 

Losses in investments on Group and Profits in investments on Group and

associated companies - 215 associated companies 59 38 

Exchange losses 17,570 8,208 Income from equity holdings 1,063 919 

Financial discounts 6,073 6,238 Income from marketable securities 364 243 

Other financial expenses 4,247 2,729 Exchange gains 15,327 6,599 

71,047 74,204 Financial discounts 386 347

Net financial expenses (44,346) (57,257) Other  financial income 197 4 

26,701 16,947 26,701 16,947
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NOTE 45 - CONSOLIDATED EXTRAORDINARY RESULTS

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the other extraordinary income includes mainly the income relative to the investment subsidies portion

taken to the income statement after transfer from the deferred income heading, in accordance with the procedure described in Note 23 k) and

which is offset by the depreciation included in extraordinary expenses.

The other extraordinary expenses include indemnities to employees for termination of employment contracts by mutual agreement in the

amount of Eur 4,032 thousand. As of December 31, 2002, this heading included indemnities to employees for termination of employment

contracts by mutual agreement in the amount of Eur 3,249 thousand and a shortfall in the estimated income tax concerning previous exercises

in the amount of Eur 1,293 thousand.

Losses on inventories include the estimated losses in the Group woodlands, on the amount of Eur 4,108 thousand, net of compensation

received for woodland fires that occurred during 2003. The final amount of losses will be calculated during the first half of 2004.

Losses and gains on fixed assets include (i) the effect of the operation mentioned in Note 10, which resulted in the sale of the financial

investments in Celpinus and Lazer e Floresta and the transfer of assets and liabilities to both companies, representing a net gain of Eur 7,858

thousand and (ii) a profit of Eur 2,600 thousand related with insurance claims. 

Expenses 2003 2002 Income 2003 2002

Donations 447 548 Gains on inventories 1,334 1,768 

Uncollectible debts 78 1,317 Gains on fixed assets 15,345 1,650 

Losses on inventories 5,192 1,310 Gains in contractual penalties - 9 

Losses on fixed assets 3,827 337 Reduction on provisions and depreciations 1,051 2,662 

Fines and penalties 71 56 Prior year adjustments 540 2,247 

Prior year adjustments 183 737 Other extraordinary income 3,133 4,199 

Depreciation of the year of subsidised

assets (Note 27) 2,171 2,717 

Other extraordinary expenses 5,915 6,236 

17,884 13,258 

Net extraordinary expenses 3,519 (723)

21,403 12,535 21,403 12,535



NOTE 46 - CHANGES IN PROVISIONS

The movement in provisions accounts on the year ended December 31, 2003 was as follows:

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, provisions for adjustments on assets correspond to the unutilised portion of the provision set up

following Portucel’s acquisition of the share capital of Papéis Inapa, S.A., which was intended to cover losses from the realisation of certain assets

and other potential liabilities. 

NOTE 47 - ASSETS HELD UNDER FINANCIAL LEASES

As of December 31, 2003, the Portucel Soporcel Group had in service the following assets acquired under financial leases:

Opening Closing

balance Increases Decreases balance

Other provisions

- Provisions for adjustments on assets 4,641 - (987) 3,654 

- Provisions for legal proceedings 741 101 (27) 815 

- Portucel Brasil equity method 74 - - 74 

- Other - 55 - 55 

5,456 156 (1,014) 4,598 

Provisions for inventory depreciation 25 25 - 50 

Provisions for doubtful accounts receivable 2,740 695 (25) 3,410 

Provisions for other debtors 33 - - 33 

Provisions for advances to suppliers 68 - - 68 

8,322 876 (1,039) 8,159 

Effective Market value of assets on Contract period

contract date effective contract date (months)

Machinery and equipment 1997 24,940 84 and 96

Transportation equipment 2000 to 2003 1,846 48

26,786 
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NOTE 50 - LOANS

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, bank loans can be analysed as follows:

• Syndicated loans

Syndicated loans debt is related to two loans, in the amount of Eur 150,000 thousand and Eur 300,000 thousand, contracted by Portucel S.A.

(Eur 420,000 thousand) and Soporcel (Eur 30,000 thousand) with bank syndicates on June and August 2002, respectively. The Eur 150,000

thousand loan will be repaid in 4 equal semi-annual instalments, the first of which will be due in December 2005 and the last one in May 2007.

The Eur 300,000 thousand loan will be repaid in four equal semi-annual instalments, the first will be due in February 2006 and the last one in

August 2007. Both loans bear interest at EURIBOR for six months plus 0.90% and 1.00%, respectively.

• Commercial Paper

Commercial paper loans are made up as follows:

-   Loans contracted by Portucel S.A. in the amount of Eur 357,505 thousand, recorded under the medium and long term balance, through

the issuing of various programs of commercial paper with private placements and guaranteed subscription. The standard period of

these loans is one year, falling before December 31, 2004, with the option of renewal by equal periods. The Company’s Board of

Directors does not anticipate that these loans will be repaid within one year. These loans bear interest at annual rates varied between

1.72% and 3.74%.

-   Loan contracted out by Soporcel in the amount of Eur 40,000 thousand registered as a short term loan. This loan bears interest at annual

rates which varied between 2.55% and 3.59% in 2003.

2003 2002

Medium Medium

Short term and long term Total Short term and long term Total

Syndicated loans - 450,000 450,000 - 450,000 450,000 

Commercial paper 40,000 357,505 397,505 40,000 346,579 386,579 

Bank overdrafts 117,197 - 117,197 75,446 - 75,446 

BEI loans 21,619 57,241 78,860 21,798 79,115 100,913 

EUR loans 8,589 - 8,589 3,059 - 3,059 

USD loans - 8,545 8,545 2,885 10,291 13,176 

JPY loans 1,329 1,903 3,232 1,331 2,066 3,397 

IAPMEI/PEDIP loans 843 284 1,127 803 1,128 1,931 

EFTA Fund loan 284 571 855 142 856 998 

CHF loans - - - 3,398 - 3,398 

Others - - - 5 - 5 

189,861 876,049 1,065,910 148,867 890,035 1,038,902



• Bank overdrafts

Bank overdrafts bear interest at current market rates.

• BEI loans

These loans were granted by the BEI (European Investment Bank) and bear interest at annual rates between 2.11% and 5.41%. The maturity

dates and the amounts of currency due, for the loans recorded under medium and long term, were as follows:

• EUR loan

As at December 31, 2003, the EUR loan recorded at short term is an export financing with BCP. This loan bears interest at annual rates

between 2.97% and 3.71%.

• USD loan

As of December 31, 2003, the USD loan recorded at short term represented the euro equivalent of USD 10,792,195. The loan recorded at

short term is an export financing with BCP. The loan recorded at medium and long term has no fixed maturity, and the Board of Directors does

not anticipate that this loan will be repaid within one year. These loans bear interest at annual rates from 1.80% to 2.50%.

• JPY loans

As at December 31, 2003 the JPY loan recorded at short term represented the euro equivalent of JPY 179,457,982 and the loan recorded at

medium and long term represented the euro equivalent of JPY 257,048,604. The short term loan is an export financing with BCP. The loan

recorded at medium and long term has no fixed maturity date and the Board of Directors does not anticipate that this loan will be repaid within

one year. These loans bear interest at annual rates between 0.70% and 0.96%.

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Total

Euro (Eur thousand) 16,516 10,743 9,643 9,643 9,643 56,188 

Swiss Francs (CHF thousand) 1,637 - - - - 1,637 
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• IAPMEI loans

These loans were granted within the scope of PEDIP and are (i) a loan in the amount of Eur 2,508 thousand, repayable in equal semi-annual

instalments up to 2004 and which do not bear interest and (ii) a loan in the amount of Eur 406 thousand, repayable in equal semi-annual

instalments in the period between 2003 and 2008 and which do not bear interest.

• EFTA Fund loan

This loan was extended to Portucel S.A. by the EFTA Fund for the Industrial Development in Portugal, for the purpose of modernising plant

facilities and for the development of specific projects within the scope of the Company’s activities. This loan, in the amount of Eur 998 thousand,

was taken out on July 12, 2001, and bears interest payable semi-annually and in arrears, at rates indexed to the Annual Base Rate. This loan is

repayable in seven successive semi-annual instalments, the first of which was due on July 12, 2003.

NOTE 51 - CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The changes in shareholders’ equity over the year ended on December 31, 2003 were as follows:

As at December 31, 2003 the entities known to hold positions equal to or more than 20% of Portucel S.A. share capital are as follows:

Portucel - Empresa de Celulose e Papel de Portugal, SGPS, S.A. 55.72%

Sonae Wood Products BV 25.00%

Opening Increases/ Closing

balance (decreases) Transfers balance 

Share capital 767,500 - - 767,500 

Own shares - nominal value (60) - - (60)

Own shares - discounts and premiums 7 - - 7 

Adjustments in investments in affiliated and associated companies (551) - - (551)

Revaluation reserve 38,450 - (20,985) 17,465 

Legal reserve 17,796 - 9,479 27,275 

Statutory reserve 29,262 13 8,500 37,775 

Other reserves (3,102) 69 - (3,033)

Retained earnings 121,339 (1) 68,317 189,655 

Net profit for the year:

• 2002 89,486 - (89,486) -

• 2003 - 66,840 - 66,840 

1,060,127 66,921 (24,175) 1,102,873



The heading adjustments in investments in affiliated and associated companies reflect the effect of the adoption of the equity method in

accounting for Portucel Soporcel Group equity holdings.

The revaluation reserve was determined in 1998 by the application of Decree-Law no. 31/98, February 11, and totalled Eur 44,688

thousand. From this amount, the Company has deducted the underlying deferred tax liability, estimated at Eur 6,238 thousand (see Note 41).

In 2003, Eur 20,985 thousand were transferred to retained earnings, as a consequence of the realised values achieved through the sale or the

use of the assets.

In accordance with the prevailing law, the legal reserve is required to be augmented at a minimum of 5% of each financial year’s net profit,

until it reaches at least 20% of the share capital. The legal reserve and the revaluation reserve cannot be distributed in cash, but may, however,

be incorporated in the share capital or used to cover eventual losses. 

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, at least 10% of the distributable annual net profit must be appropriated for the setting

up, or increase of a special reserve intended to maintain dividends at an even level.

The balance under the other reserves heading represents the difference determined on January 1, 2000 between the acquisition cost of

Papéis Inapa, S.A., and its adjusted shareholders’ equity. Following the merger transaction, this difference has been classified as reserve. The

change in 2003, results in final price adjustments.

By resolution of the General Meeting held on March 31, 2003, the Company has paid dividends of Eur 24,175 thousand.

NOTE 52 - MINORITY INTERESTS

As of December 31, 2002, minority interests represented those portions of the equity of Portucel Florestal, Celpinus, Lazer e Floresta, Arboser

and Sociedade de Vinhos da Herdade de Espirra, that were not held by Portucel S.A.. As a consequence of the reorganization made by the Group

of the forest business (see Note 10), Portucel Florestal, Arboser and Sociedade de Vinhos da Herdade de Espirra are wholly owned by Portucel

S.A. and Celpinus and Lazer e Floresta’s equity holdings were sold. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2003 there are no minority interests

remaining.
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NOTE 53 - INVENTORIES

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002 the balance under this heading can be analysed as follows:

The sundry materials heading covers mainly spare parts for the repair and maintenance of machinery and equipment.

Woodlands and logging contracts classified as medium and long term on December 31, 2003 and 2002, relate to woodlands that are still

growing and which are not expected to be harvested within the coming year.

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, inventories in the custody of third parties stood at Eur 19,717 thousand (2002: Eur 10,105 thousand).

These inventories are mainly located in external warehouses situated in foreign countries.

Short term Medium and long term Total

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Raw and subsidiary materials and consumables:

Raw materials and supplies:

Wood 20,112 39,888 - - 20,112 39,888 

Other 3,840 4,122 - - 3,840 4,122 

Subsidiary materials 8,753 7,636 - - 8,753 7,636 

Sundry materials 53,297 47,004 - - 53,297 47,004 

Packaging for consumption 2,616 2,364 - - 2,616 2,364 

Others 1,200 872 - - 1,200 872 

89,818 101,886 - - 89,818 101,886 

Provisions for inventory depreciation (25) - - - (25) -

89,793 101,886 - - 89,793 101,886 

Work in process:

Woodlands 18,162 18,362 215,271 279,767 233,433 298,129 

Paper 3,135 3,665 - - 3,135 3,665 

Pulp 986 785 - - 986 785 

Others 1,923 1,966 68 - 1,991 1,966 

24,206 24,778 215,339 279,767 239,545 304,545 

1,508 480 - - 1,508 480 

Finished and intermediate products

Paper 46,390 14,854 - - 46,390 14,854 

Pulp 7,319 25,456 - - 7,319 25,456 

Others 3,649 7,351 - - 3,649 7,351 

57,358 47,661 - - 57,358 47,661 

Provisions for inventory depreciation (25) (25) - - (25) (25)

57,333 47,636 - - 57,333 47,636 

Merchandise 190 164 - - 190 164 

Advances to suppliers of inventories 583 289 - - 583 289 

173,613 175,233 215,339 279,767 388,952 455,000



On December 31, 2003 the raw material in transit amounted to some Eur 1,606 thousand (2002:  Eur 1,631 thousand), respectively.

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002 the heading advances to suppliers of inventories correspond to advances to suppliers for the purchase

of wood. These advances reflect the conditions of a contract for the purchase of wood from a supplier at a pre-determined price. 

During the course of 2003, the changes under the work in process - woodlands heading were as follows:

NOTE 54 - STATE AND OTHER PUBLIC ENTITIES

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company was fully up to date with its payments to the state and to other public entities. Outstanding

balances with these entities were as follows:

As of December 31, 2003, the corporate income tax receivable corresponded mainly to the advanced payments made by the Company

deducted by the income tax charge, regarding the taxation as a group of companies.

Opening balance 298,129 

Planting, forestation and conservation costs 13,956 

Woodland on disposed properties (48,090)

Logging conducted in the year (30,562)

Closing balance 233,433

Receivable Payable

2003 2002 2003 2002

Value added tax 28,386 21,774 1,170 356 

Corporate income tax 24,278 116 278 13,636 

Corporate income tax - withholdings 206 1,008 255 61

Social security - 12 1,592 1,690 

Salaries income tax - withholdings - 178 1,841 1,976 

Other 731 440 1,141 1,166 

53,601 23,528 6,277 18,885 
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NOTE 55 - GROUP COMPANIES 

Outstanding balances and transactions with the companies of Portucel SGPS Group as of December 31, 2003, were as follows:

Assets Liabilities

Accounts Accounts

receivable Other payable Other

from debtors Deferred to Group creditors Accrued

customers (Note 56) costs suppliers companies (Nota 56) costs

Portucel - Empresa de Celulose e Papel de Portugal, SGPS, S.A. 593 3 7,151 427 222,036 742 -

Portucel Tejo - Empresa de Celulose do Tejo, S.A. 18 - - - - - -

Portucel International Trading, S.A. - - - - - - -

Portucel Serviços - Empresa de Prestação de Serviços, S.A. 668 - - 678 - 3 -

CPK - Companhia Produtora de Papel Kraftsack, S.A. 767 - - 12 - - -

Celpinus - Empresa de Desenvolvimento Agro-Florestal, S.A. 246 - - - - - -

Lazer e Floresta - Empresa de Desenvolvimento 

Agro-Florestal Imobiliário e Turístico, S.A. 2,220 597 - 5 - - -

Portucel Brasil - - - - - - -

MICEP - Manutenção Industrial de Celulose e Papel, ACE 433 - - 795 - - 238 

ASIP - Assistência e Serviços para a Indústria do Papel, ACE 1,075 - - 61 - - -

Cutpaper - Transformação, Corte e Embalagem de Papel, ACE 232 - - 373 - - -

Other - - - - 514 - -

6,252 600 7,151 2,351 222,550 745 238

Transactions

External Interest Interest

supplies and similar Sales and and similar

and costs Extraordinary services Other profits

Purchases services (Nota 44) expenses rendered income (Nota 44)

Portucel - Empresa de Celulose e Papel de Portugal, SGPS, S.A. - 1,501 11,989 3,550 510 - 7,253 

Portucel Tejo - Empresa de Celulose do Tejo, S.A. - - - - 80 14 -

Portucel International Trading, S.A. - 13 - - - - -

Portucel Serviços - Empresa de Prestação de Serviços, S.A. - 732 - - 562 - -

CPK - Companhia Produtora de Papel Kraftsack, S.A. - 122 - - 4,035 564 -

Celpinus - Empresa de Desenvolvimento Agro-Florestal, S.A. 56 - - - 288 95 81 

Lazer e Floresta - Empresa de Desenvolvimento 

Agro-Florestal Imobiliário e Turístico, S.A. 545 4 - - 1,621 1,418 146 

Portucel Brasil - 30 - - - - -

MICEP - Manutenção Industrial de Celulose e Papel, ACE - 3,753 - 246 1,460 29 -

ASIP - Assistência e Serviços para a Indústria do Papel, ACE - 8,200 - - - 11 -

Cutpaper - Transformação, Corte e Embalagem de Papel, ACE - 3,760 - - 2,335 - -

Other - 880 - - 121 - 6 

601 18,995 11,989 3,796 11,012 2,131 7,486 



The amount due to Portucel SGPS and recorded under accounts payable to Group companies in the short term, bear interest calculated on a

daily basis at current market rates applicable to similar transactions.

Portucel Serviços provides the Group with office and management services. Portucel Brazil provides logistic shipping services to the Group

for wood acquired in Brazil.

NOTE 56 - OTHER DEBTORS AND CREDITORS

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the balances under these headings were as follows: 

Other debtors Other creditors

2003 2002 2003 2002

Personnel 220 776 182 106 

Group companies (Note 55) 600 132 745 433 

Investment subsidy - 1,205 - -

Advances on sales of fixed assets - - - 1,132 

Other 2,129 3,511 5,584 1,421 

2,949 5,624 6,511 3,092
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NOTE 57 - ACCRUAL AND DEFERRALS

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the balances of these headings were as follows:

NOTE 58 - CASH AND EQUIVALENTS

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the breakdown of this heading was as follows:

2003 2002

Accrued income:

Insurance claims 5,808 1,839 

Refunds from the Portuguese government - 2,169 

Interest receivable 229 662 

Advance payment of indemnities - -

Other 811 309 

6,848 4,979 

Deferred Costs:

Deferred income tax (Note 38) 6,847 9,972 

Pension Fund (Note 21 a)) 10,724 6,605 

Major repairs (Note 23 b)) 4,921 3,742 

Expenses with medium and long term loans 1,511 2,746 

Other 2,897 3,118 

26,900 26,183 

Accrued expenses:

Deferred income tax (Note 38) 76,337 90,105 

Pension Fund (Note 21 a)) 18,456 13,977 

Payroll expenses 10,477 9,634 

Interest payable 5,802 8,154 

Discounts on sales 2,744 4,060 

Contractual penalties 2,134 1,279 

Pre-retirement pensions (Note 23 i)) 102 198 

Other 1,826 1,322 

117,878 128,729 

Deferred income:

Investment subsidies:

Strategic Program for Energising and Modernising the Portuguese Industry 3,414 4,094 

Other subsidies 7,146 10,592 

10,560 14,686

2003 2002

Cash 48 46 

Bank deposits 346,399 281,896 

346,447 281,942



NOTE 59 - STATEMENT OF INCOME BY FUNCTIONS

a)  Reconciliation of the net extraordinary expenses shown in the statement of income by nature and the statement of income by

functions

The statement of income by functions was prepared in the manner prescribed by Accounting Directive no. 20, which presents a concept

of extraordinary income and expenses that differs from that defined in the Official Plan of Accounts (POC) for the preparation of the statement

of income by nature. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2003, a portion of the extraordinary expenses in the amount of Eur 13,852 thousand

(2002: Eur 10,009 thousand), excluding Eur 4,032 thousand related with indemnities to employees (2002: Eur 3,249 thousand), and the

extraordinary income, in the amount of Eur 21,403 thousand (2002: Eur 12,535 thousand), shown in the statement of income by nature (see

Note 45), were reclassified to the current income. These reclassifications gave rise to the following differences in earnings: 

b)  Cost of sales and services rendered

Statement of income 2003 Statement of income 2002

By By By By

nature Reclassification functions nature Reclassification functions

Profit from operations 110,969 7,940 118,909 191,666 1,910 193,576

Financial expenses, net (44,346) 3,719 (40,627) (57,257) (30) (57,287)

Profit before extraordinary

expenses and income tax 66,623 7,551 74,174 134,409 2,526 136,935

Extraordinary expenses, net 3,519 (7,551) (4,032) (723) (2,526) (3,249)

Net profit for the year 66,840 - 66,840 89,486 - 89,486

Finished and

intermediate and Services

products Merchandise waste rendered Total

Opening inventories 47,636 164 480 - 48,280 

Intake from production/purchases 744,286 127 1,028 13,715 759,156 

Inventory adjustments 957 - - - 957 

Withdrawals for production and tangible fixed assets 320 - - - 320 

Closing inventories (57,333) (190) (1,508) - (59,031)

Cost of sales 735,866 101 - 13,715 749,682
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NOTE 60 - ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION

In the development of its activity the Group supported several environmental charges which, in accordance with their nature, are capitalized

or recognized as costs in the profit from operations.

Environmental expenses incurred by the Group in order to preserve resources or avoid or reduce future damages, are capitalized when they

are expected to extend the life or increase the capacity, safety or efficiency of other assets held by the Group. The amounts capitalized during

2003 are as follows:

In 2003 the environmental expenses recognized as a cost were the following:

During 2003, the Group companies received subsidies of Eur 370 thousand related with environmental safety.

As of December 31, 2003, the financial statements do not include any environmental liabilities and no disclosure is made of environmental

contingencies, as the Company’s management believes that at that date, there are no contingencies or obligations that could result in material

charges for the Group.

Description Amount

Recuperation boiler 42,382 

Auxiliary boiler 8,807 

Intervention on the paper and pulp plant washing process 7,553 

Lime oven 7,518 

Evaporation system improvement 3,666 

Bleaching process improvement 3,098 

Biomass boiler improvement 1,037 

Completion of the washing/sieve circuits 871 

Other 3,256 

78,188

Description Amount

Liquid effluents treatment 8,938 

Expenditures with electro filters 1,012 

Recycling of residues and scrap iron material 708 

Sewer mains 133 

Solid waste embankment 292 

Other 429

11,512 



NOTE 61 - INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 

The Portucel Soporcel Group, in compliance with the regulations issued by the Portuguese Stock Exchange Regulator (CMVM) and by the

European Commission of Stock Exchange Regulators, regarding the qualitative information to be disclosed in 2003 on the transition process for

the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS or IAS), identified the main differences between the Portuguese Generally Accept Accounting

Principles (POC), applied in these financial statements, and the IFRS. The effects of the following differences are estimated to be effective in the

Portucel Soporcel Group transition process that will take place on January 1, 2005:

- In accordance with POC, research expenses and costs associated with share capital increases can be capitalized and amortized over a five-

year period. In accordance with IFRS, research expenses should be recognized in the statement of income when incurred, and costs associated

with share capital increases, reduced by any tax charge, should be recorded as a deduction to the net equity. 

- The calculation and accounting of Goodwill from acquisitions of financial investments are similar between Portuguese Accounting Standards

and IFRS. However, IFRS (IAS 22) is currently being reviewed, and the expectations is that (i) this will replace the goodwill depreciation with

a periodic impairment test and (ii) this will establish that negative goodwill will be immediately recognized in profit and loss.

- Profits and losses realised on financial instruments are recorded by the Group in the income statement as they occur, in accordance with the

applicable criteria of the covered items, following the accrual concept (see Note 23 p)). In accordance with IFRS (IAS 39), financial instruments

should be initially recognized at cost, including the acquisition expenses, and its subsequent measurement should be based on their fair

value. This standard establishes that all financial instruments should be recorded as an asset or a liability when the fair value is positive or

negative, respectively. In accordance with IFRS, when financial instruments are classified as held-for-trading, (as is the case for the financial

instruments held by the Group), the changes in the fair value should be recorded in the statement of income of the period.

- In accordance with the POC, the Group woodlands are recorded at cost or revaluated value as when they were transferred during the process

in 1993, as mentioned in the Introduction Note. Under IFRS (IAS 41), the measurement of biological assets should be based on the fair value

and changes in the fair values, determined at the reporting date, should be recorded in the statement of income of the period.

- In accordance with the POC, granted or obtained loans with zero interest rates are recorded at its initial value. In accordance with IFRS, these

loans should be measured at their fair value and the difference from the initial value should be recorded in equity. During their life, the effect

of the use of market interest rates should be recorded in the statement of income.

The Group is implementing several actions, such as training and the set-up of a specialized team, with the goal to ensure that the transition

process to IFRS will be concluded successfully and on time.
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NOTE 62 - REPRIVATIZATION

The Portuguese government revoked the previous model for the second phase of the Company’s reprivatization process that was approved

in May 2001, with the publication of the Decree-Law no. 6/2003, January 15. The new model will now take place in two segments.

The first segment is the direct sale of 115,125,000 shares of the Company’s share capital to a syndicate of financial institutions, following

which they will be sold to institutional investors. The share sales will be made directly by the Portuguese government or through Portucel SGPS.

The Portuguese Ministry Council shall determine the conditions for this sale.

The other segment, currently under way, consist of a public tender for the sale of a single indivisible lot of shares, representing up to 30%

of Portucel S.A. share capital, to the winner of the tender. The winning candidate would be determined through resolution made by the

Portuguese Ministry Council.



NOTE 63 - EXPLANATION OF ENGLISH TRANSLATION

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are a free translation of the financial statements originally issued in the Portuguese

language in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Portugal, which may not conform with generally accepted accounting

principles in other countries.  In the event of discrepancies between the English and the Portuguese versions, the Portuguese version prevails.
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To the Shareholders

1. In accordance with the law and our mandate, we herewith present the report on our supervisory activity and our opinion on the Consolidated

Annual Report of the Board of Directors and on the corresponding Consolidated Financial Statements of Portucel - Empresa Produtora de Pasta

e Papel, S.A. with respect to the year ended December 31, 2003.

2. During the course of the year, we have accompanied the evolution of the company’s activities, as and when deemed necessary, and have

verified the timeliness and adequacy of the accounting records and supporting documentation. We have also ensured that the law and the

company’s articles of association have been complied with. 

3. As a consequence of our work, we have issued the attached Statutory Audit Report, including the regulatory Report of the External auditor.

Furthermore we have issued the Statutory Report to the Board of Directors, as required by Article 451º of the Corporate Law.

4. Within the scope of our mandate, we have verified that:

i) the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statements of Income by Nature and by Functions, the Consolidated Cash Flow

Statement and the notes to the accounts present adequately the financial position and the results of the company;

ii) the accounting policies and valuation methods applied are appropriate;

iii) the Annual Report of the Board of Directors is sufficiently clear as to the evolution of the business and the position of the company and

subsidiaries included in the consolidation and highlights the more significant aspects;

5. On this basis, and taking into account the information obtained from the Board of Directors and the company’s employees, together with the

conclusions in the Statutory Audit Report on the accounts, we are of the opinion that: 

i) the Consolidated Annual Report of the Board of Directors be approved;

ii) the Consolidated Financial Statements be approved;

Lisbon, March 3, 2004

The Statutory Auditor 

Belarmino Martins, Eugénio Ferreira & Associados - Sociedade de Revisores Oficiais de Contas, Lda

represented by:

Eugénio Luís Lopes Franco Ferreira, R.O.C.

REPORT AND OPINION OF THE STATUTORY AUDITOR (Consolidated Financial Statements)

 



Introduction

1. As required by law, we present the Statutory Audit Report, including the regulatory Report of the External auditor, in respect of the financial

information included in the Annual Report of the Board of Directors and the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of Portucel -

Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A., comprising the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2003, (which shows total assets

of Eur 2,721,501 thousand and a total of shareholder's equity of Eur 1,102,873 thousand, including a net profit of Eur 66,840 thousand), the

Consolidated Statements of Income by Nature and by Functions and the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended, and the

corresponding notes to the accounts.

Responsibilities

2. It is the responsibility of the Company’s Board of Directors: (i) to prepare the Annual Report of the Board of Directors and Consolidated

Financial Statements which present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the companies included in the consolidation, the

Consolidated Results of its operations and Cash Flows; (ii) to prepare historic financial information in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles in Portugal that is complete, true, timeliness, clear, objective and licit, as required by the Portuguese Securities Market

Code (“Código dos Valores Mobiliários); (iii) to adopt adequate accounting policies and criteria; (iv) to maintain appropriate systems of internal

control; and (v) to disclose any relevant matters which have influenced the operations, financial position or results of the companies included

in the consolidation.

3. Our responsibility is to verify the financial information included in the documents referred to above, namely if, it is complete, true, timeliness,

clear, objective and licit, as required by the Portuguese Securities Market Code, and to issue a professional and independent report based on

our audit.

4. The Financial Statements as of December 31, 2003 of a consolidated subsidiary, representing about 42% of the consolidated assets and about

55% of the total consolidated income, were audited by another auditor, on whose report we have based our report with regards to the

values related to that subsidiary included in the Consolidated Financial Statements.  

LEGAL CERTIFICATION OF THE ACCOUNTS AND AUDIT REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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Scope

5. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards and Technical Recommendations approved by the Institute of Statutory Auditors,

which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Consolidated Financial Statements are

free of material misstatement. Accordingly, our examination included: (i) verification that the subsidiary’s Financial Statements have been

properly examined and, for the cases where such an examination was not carried out, verification, on a test basis, of the evidence supporting

the amounts and disclosures in the Consolidated Financial Statements, and assessing the reasonableness of the estimates, based on

judgements and criteria made by Management in the preparation of these financial statements; (ii) verification of the consolidation

operations and, when applicable, the utilization of the equity method; (iii) assessing the appropriateness and consistency of the accounting

principles used and their disclosure, as applicable; (iv) assessing the applicability of the going concern basis of accounting; (v) evaluating the

overall presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements; and (vi) assessing whether the consolidated financial information is complete,

true, timeliness, clear, objective and licit.

6. Our work also covered the verification of the consistency of the consolidated financial information included in the Annual Report of the Board

of Directors with the remaining documents referred above.

7. We believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Opinion

8. In our opinion, the Consolidated Financial Statements referred to above, present fairly in all material respects, the Consolidated Financial

position of Portucel - Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. as of 31 December 2003, the Consolidated Results of its operations and its

Consolidated Cash Flows for the year then ended in conformity with the generally accepted accounting principles in Portugal, and the

information included is complete, true, timeliness, clear, objective and licit.

Lisbon, March 3, 2004

Belarmino Martins, Eugénio Ferreira & Associados - Sociedade de Revisores Oficiais de Contas, Lda

represented by:

Eugénio Luís Lopes Franco Ferreira, R.O.C.



To the shareholders of 

Portucel - Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A.

1. We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet of Portucel - Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. as of December 31,

2003, and the related Consolidated Statements of Income by Nature and by Functions and the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the

year then ended. These Consolidated Financial Statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on these Consolidated Financial Statements based on our audit.

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit

to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on

a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the Consolidated Financial Statements. An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall Consolidated Financial

Statements’ presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3. As of December 31, 2003 the Financial Statements of a consolidated subsidiary, representing about 42% of total consolidated assets and

about 55% of total consolidated income, were audited by another auditor, on whose report we have based our report with regards to the

values related to that subsidiary included in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

4. In our opinion, based on our work and on the other auditor's work, the Consolidated Financial Statements present fairly, in all material

respects, the Consolidated Financial position of Portucel - Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. as of December 31, 2003 and the

Consolidated Results of its operations and its Cash Flows for the year then ended in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles

in Portugal.

Lisbon, March 3, 2004

PricewaterhouseCoopers

AUDITORS’ REPORT (Free translation from the original in Portuguese)
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HEAD OFFICE

Mitrena - Apartado 55
2901-861 Setúbal - Portugal
Phone: + 351 265 709 000
Fax: + 351 265 709 165

OFFICES AND MILLS:

Portucel

Cacia Mill
Rua Bombeiros da Celulose
3800-536 Cacia - Portugal
Phone: + 351 234 910 600
Fax: + 351 234 910 619

Setúbal Integrated Pulp and Paper Mill
Mitrena - Apartado 55
2901-861 Setúbal - Portugal
Phone: + 351 265 709 000
Fax: + 351 265 709 165

Soporcel

Figueira da Foz Integrated Pulp and Paper Mill
Lavos - Apartado 5
3081-851 Figueira da Foz - Portugal
Phone: + 351 233 900 100/900 200
Fax: + 351 233 940 502

CONTACTS

>>

>>



SALES OFFICES:

PORTUGAL
Soporcel 2000

Mitrena - Apartado 55
2901-861 Setúbal
Phone: +351 265 700 540
Fax: +351 265 729 481 

Lavos - Apartado 5
3081-851 Figueira da Foz
Phone: +351 233 900 177/8
Fax: +351 233 940 097
e-mail: sales-po@soporcel.pt

SPAIN
Soporcel España, S.A.

C/ Caleruega, 102-104 3ºDcha
Edificio Ofipinar - 28006 Madrid
Paper
Phone: +34 91 383 79 31
Fax: +34 91 383 79 53/4
Pulp
Phone: + 34 91 383 79 34
Fax: + 34 91 383 79 54
e-mail: sales-es@soporcel.pt
(Paper and Pulp)

FRANCE
Soporcel France, EURL

Parc des Érables
Batiment 3
66, Route de Sartrouville
78230 Le Pecq - France
Phone: +33 139 764 061
Fax: +33 139 761 498
e-mail: sales-fr@soporcel.pt

UNITED KINGDOM
Soporcel UK, Ltd

Oaks House, Suite 4A
16/22 West Street
Epsom
Surrey KT187RG - UK
Phone: +441 372 728 282
Fax: +441 372 729 944
e-mail: sales-uk@soporcel.pt

BENELUX AND HOLLAND
Soporcel International, Bv

Zandvoortselaan 2
2106 CN Heemstede
Holland
Phone: +31 23 5472021
Fax: +31 23 54718 79
e-mail: sales-nl@soporcel.pt

GERMANY
Soporcel Deutschland, GmbH

Gertrudenstrasse, 9
50667 Köln
Germany
Phone: +49 221 270 59 70
Fax: +49 221 270 59729
e-mail: sales-de@soporcel.pt

Portucel International, GmbH

Gertrudenstrasse, 9
50667 Köln
Germany
Phone: +49 0221 9201050
Fax: +49 0221 9201059
e-mail: pitkoeln@portucel.pt

ITALY
Soporcel Italia, SRL

Via Verona 8/A
37012 Bussolengo (VR) Italy
Phone: +39 045 71 56 938
Fax: +39 045 71 51 039
e-mail: sales-it@soporcel.pt

AUSTRIA
Soporcel Austria GmbH

Fleschgasse 32
1130 Wien
Austria
Phone: +43 1 879 68 78
Fax: +43 1 879 67 97
e-mail: sales-au@soporcel.pt

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Soporcel North America, Inc

40, Richards Avenue
Norwalk, Connecticut 06854
USA
Phone: +1 888 662 2736
Fax: +1 203 838 5193
e-mail: soporcel@soporcelna.com

>>



PORTUCEL - EMPRESA PRODUTORA DE PASTA E PAPEL, S.A.

Mitrena - Apartado 55 - 2901-861 SETÚBAL

wwww.portucelsoporcel.com

Development and Coordination

Corporate Image and Communication Department

dic@portucel.pt

Design and Production

www.broadway.pt


